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Monday, July 7, 2008

--- Upon commencing at 9:31 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  The Board is sitting today in connection with an application filed by Hydro One Networks on December 18th, 2007 under section 78 of the Ontario Energy Board Act.  Hydro One is applying for an order approving the revenue requirement cost allocation and rates for Hydro One's distribution business for the year 2008, in accordance with the memorandum dated May 4th, 2007 provided to the Board.


The Board held an Issues Day on December 15th and heard submissions from all of the parties with respect to the proposed issues list.  The Board also heard submissions from parties on Hydro One's request for the continuation on an interim basis of the existing regulatory assets phase 2 rate rider, and the existing time of use rates, as well as a request by Mr. Shepherd on behalf of the School Energy Coalition with respect to dividing this hearing into two proceedings.


The Board issued its oral decision with respect to those matters on February 15th, 2008 and, in a procedural order February 22nd, approved the issues list.  It is attached as appendix A to that decision and order.


The parties have held a settlement conference in this matter between May 26th and May 30th and filed a settlement proposal.  The Board approved that settlement proposal in a procedural order dated June 19th, 2008 and, in the same procedural order, set down today as the date to begin the oral hearings and evidentiary part of this process.


May we have the appearances, please?

Appearances:


MR. ROGERS:  Good morning, Mr. Kaiser.  I'm not sure whether my microphone is working or not.  My name is Donald Rogers and I appear for the applicant.  With me is Mr. Allan Cowan to my left, who is the director of major applications for the applicant, and to his left and also assisting me is Mr. Bodhan Dumka, who is a senior regulatory advisor with the applicant.


I will also be assisted in the hearing by my associate, Anita Varjacic, who is sitting in the audience, who is co-counsel for the applicant.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Rogers.  Mr. DeRose.


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Sorry, is it on now?


MR. ROGERS:  I don't think they're working.


MR. KAISER:  Try it now.


MR. DeROSE:  I believe my microphone is on now.  Thank you, Mr. Chair, Members of the Panel.  Vince DeRose on behalf of the Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.  I just have three quick points.  The first, to my left is Nadia Effendi.  As this is her first time before the OEB in such a hearing, I thought it appropriate that I formally introduce her to the panel.  Ms. Effendi has been a lawyer with us since 2004 and before that was a clerk at the Supreme Court of Canada, so it indicates she is smarter than both Peter Thompson and I combined.  I realize that is not hard, but I hope it will be appreciated by the Board.


What our plan is for this --


MR. KAISER:  She is also better looking.


MR. DeROSE:  Fair enough.


Our intention, in terms of the organization of this proceeding, is that I will be taking the examination of this panel, Ms. Effendi will be taking the examination of panel 2 and 3, and to the extent that there are any smart meter or CDM issues that flow into panel 4, she will be available to deal with that.  Peter Thompson will be looking after the cost allocation and rate design component of this case in panel 4.  Secondly, Mr. Warren, on behalf of the CCC, has asked that I put an appearance in for him.  Mr. Warren has no questions for panel 1.


And third is an issue that has arisen this past Friday.  There is an intervenor in this proceeding called Hopper Foundry.  A Mr. John Vickers runs Hopper Foundry, and he contacted the CME late last week.  I had a conversation with him on Friday afternoon.  As I understand it, Hopper Foundry is a member of the CME, but they independently applied for intervenor status.


Hopper Foundry has been unrepresented so far in this proceeding.  As you can appreciate, the process is a little daunting, and I think they have had some difficulty understanding all of the steps that are necessary.


We have had a conversation with them.  Their issue relates specifically to the cancellation of a particular interim time of use rate and the impact that that will have on their particular operations.


We anticipate that the position that they take in this hearing may not be completely consistent with the position that CME as a broader interest association takes, but what I have -- I have talked to Board Staff about this and what I proposed to the Board is that I continue to work with Mr. Vickers.  I am going to try to talk to him today, work with Board Staff to try and assist him in the process and make sure that he, to the best of his ability, has an opportunity to properly put his position before the Board.


So to the extent possible, I will assist him in the process and procedure.


MR. KAISER:  You have advised Mr. Hopper -- Mr. Vickers, rather, that you may have a conflict?


MR. DeROSE:  Yes.  We have been very clear with the fact that we will not be advocating his position, necessarily, and that we will not be putting in arguments on his behalf, but that -- I guess we really see our role here, Mr. Chair, as trying to be a friend to the Board and a friend to a member of CME.


The process for someone who is unrepresented can be difficult, and so it's more of an assistance with process and procedure to the extent that we can.


But he certainly does understand, I believe, that CME will not be necessarily putting in argument on behalf of Hopper Foundry.


MR. KAISER:  Well, you have advised him that Board counsel will be available to assist him?


MR. DeROSE:  I have.  And I believe he also has contacted certainly Board Staff.  I am not sure whether he has contacted Board counsel.  If your preference is that we don't assist him, we --


MR. KAISER:  I don't have any preference.  I just want to make sure that he is aware that he is not relying on you, and then finds that you are unable to represent him.  So just as long as that is clear, if you want to help him, that's fine.  But Mr. Millar, you will talk to this gentleman?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Mr. Chair.  In fact, I have a message from Mr. Vickers this very morning.  I understand he has spoken to Mr. Mukherji, as well.  So between us and Mr. DeRose, we will work something out for him.


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Mondrow.


MR. MONDROW:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, Panel Members, Ian Mondrow representing two parties in this proceeding.  The first is the Electrical Contractors' Association of Ontario, or ECAO, whose issues have been resolved, and that is reflected in the settlement agreement accepted by the Panel, particularly at issue 5.2.  So ECAO will not be actively participating in the balance of the process.


We are also acting for Rogers Cable Communications Inc., and in that respect I will be back before you, sir, for panel 4 a little later in the proceeding.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning.  Michael Buonaguro, counsel for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.  I would also like to put an appearance in this morning for the School Energy Coalition.  Mr. John DeVellis and Mr. Jay Shepherd will both be representing SEC in this particular proceeding.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. LOKAN:  Andrew Lokan, counsel for the Power Workers' Union, and with me is Bayu Kidane, a consultant for the Power Workers' Union.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. MACINTOSH:  David MacIntosh on behalf of Energy Probe Research Foundation, and I would like to also put in an appearance for Peter Faye, who was to some extent a victim of rescheduling and so he may not be available during the oral hearing, but he will be assisting us in reviewing evidence and in drafting argument.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Good morning.  Murray Klippenstein for Pollution Probe, and appearing with me will be Mr. Basel Alexander.  I anticipate to not be much involved with the issues until later in the hearing.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. BATEMAN:  Good morning.  Andy Bateman with Energy Cost Management Inc.  We have more one specific area of interest and that will also be towards the end of the hearing.

On that note, I think our issue is with respect to panel 4 but I would like to clarify that, please.  It is -- where is the customer classification panel?

MR. ROGERS:  It's panel 4.

MR. BATEMAN:  It is panel 4.  Thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Anyone else?  Yes, Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I notice that no one is here today for AMPCO, but I have -- had been in discussions with AMPCO.  They might be asking some questions for them on another panel.

MS. NOWINA:  You will let us know then?  Their status?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  I am joined today with my co-counsel, Ms. Ljuba Cochrane and members of Board Staff, Mr. Mukherji to my left, and behind me, Mr. Chung, Mr. Ritchie, Mr. Babaie and Mr. Davies.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Rogers.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  Thank you, sir.  I do have a brief opening statement I would like to give to the Board, but before doing that, it is my practice in these proceedings to request of the Board, and hopefully all will consent, to an order permitting me to speak to witnesses during the course of the hearing.


As you know, Mr. Kaiser, rule 4.04 of the professional rules of conduct generally prohibit counsel from discussing evidence with witnesses during the course of the cross-examination.  But I ask the panel to -- for an exception to that rule is r as is traditionally done in these cases so I may talk to the witnesses if necessary to ensure the quality of the evidence before you is accurate, and complete.

As usual I undertake not to abuse that privilege by attempting to coach the witnesses, to change any evidence on the basis that it's going to be favourable.  My sole intent it is to allow the witnesses to provide me with a device and to discuss the technical evidence with their colleagues to ensure that the highest quality evidence is placed before the Board.

MR. KAISER:  Any objection?

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, if I may.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  I guess my experience in hearings has been that this has been done more on a case-by-case basis, where there is a particular matter that needs to be discussed between counsel and witnesses.

I don't think I have been on a hearing with Mr. Rogers before; he may well have had this blanket permission before, but in my experience, this has usually been done only where there is something that counsel needs to discuss with the panel and he raises it with the Board.  Usually the permission is granted, of course, but it is usually done on a case-by-case basis, in my experience.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Rogers, is it satisfactory to proceed on the basis outlined by Mr. Millar?

MR. ROGERS:  Certainly.  If necessary.  It has been my experience in these cases and I am surprised that this isn't followed in other hearings, it is very difficult to present a case like this without having access to these witnesses, because of the, just the technical nature of the evidence.

MR. KAISER:  Do you have any objection if any of the parties here question you as to the extent of your conversation with the witnesses?

MR. ROGERS:  No.  Not at all.  That's fine.  I don't mind disclosing – well, I don't want to disclose what I talk to them about, necessarily.  But in my experience, during the course of the hearing things will come up, the undertakings given, for example, and I need to talk to the witnesses to find out how long will it take, what's involved, make sure that they do -- they obtain the information that has been undertaken in an appropriate way.

They need to talk to their colleagues to be able to go back and get additional information from the technical database that they don't have access to necessarily and technically these are not permitted.  I suspect in every hearing this always happens and it is never an issue.


MR. KAISER:  The issue has come up before, of course, and generally speaking counsel for the applicant and sometimes the intervenors too, of course, make this request.

Mr. Millar, I think the fact is we really can't proceed in this environment without allowing counsel that latitude.  These are very experienced counsel, well-known to the Board.  I think we're content to deal with it on the basis that Mr. Rogers sets out.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  I do assure you, Mr. Kaiser and Members of the Board, that the privilege will not be abused.

MR. KAISER:  Of course.

MR. ROGERS:  Okay.  May I make a brief opening statement and then I will be quite prepared to present my witnesses for examination.
Opening statement by Mr. Rogers:

MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Chairman, Members of the Board, the applicant, Hydro One Networks Inc. applies to this Board for an order approving a revenue requirement for 2008 of $1,067,000,000.  In addition it seeks approvals to refund regulatory assets with a net balance of $49 million, to be refunded over a four-year period at $12 million per year.

This application, if approved in full, including expiry of existing rate riders, would result in an average increase of, over approved 2007 rates, of less than 2.5 percent on the distribution bill, and less than 1 percent on the average total bill.

Hydro One anticipates that it will apply the Board's third generation incentive regulation model to the revenue requirement determined in this case, to adjust the approved 2008 revenue requirement for 2009 and 2010.

As you pointed out this morning, sir, by order of the Board dated April 11th, 2008, excluding transmission-related charges applied to embedded distributors, the existing rates for 2007 are declared interim as of May 1, 2008.

By that order, the Board allowed the applicant to establish a deferral account to record the difference between the 2008 approved revenue requirement and the revenue calculated using currently approved rates for the period from May 1, 2008 until further order of the Board at the conclusion of this proceeding.

Now, the applicant expects that the first part of this case will deal with relatively conventional issues, primarily the justification for certain increasing costs.  As the Board is aware, there was a settlement conference which you referred to this morning, in this case and many of the issues were resolved in this area, although a number still do remain.

There is one very unique characteristic of this case, however, and that is the -- I think it will attract a good deal of attention, and from what I heard this morning, that appears to the case.  The company is proposing to harmonize rates for its acquired LDCs and legacy customers and it has put forward a cost allocation and rate design following Board guidelines that begins the process of establishing cost-based rates.

Its proposal calls for a reduction of the current more than 281 rate classes to 12 new rate classes.  It is proposed that the rates for acquired LDCs be harmonized to the 12 new rate classes using a four-year phase-in approach to deal with the wide variation of rates in the acquired LDCs.  The company recognizes that this is a major step in the movement towards cost-based rates.  And although the proposal before the Board will result in about 81 percent or over 900,000 of Hydro One's customers having total bill impacts of less than 5 percent at the end of the four-year phase-in period, the company recognizes that there will be significant impacts on a portion of its customers.

The applicant would like the Board to know that it has considered very seriously the issue of rate impacts on its customers, both in the development of its proposals and in the decision to present these proposals to this Board for approval.

As the evidence shows Hydro One conducted appear extensive stakeholdering effort with its customers' representatives and it is proposing a four-year phase in along with other mitigation measures designed to keep the bill impacts within Board-approved limits.

I anticipate that this will be a controversial part of the hearing.  It is an area where fairness between customer classes is of paramount concern.  The process, this process itself is actually quite well suited to examine these issues and the implications for the various customer classes, taking into account all appropriate rate design considerations.

Further, this Board is very well placed and uniquely qualified to exercise its expert independent and objective evidence -- I'm sorry, objective judgment in reconciling the various diverse interests in this area. 

Now, I propose to call four panels of witnesses to deal with the issues remaining on the issues list.  The witnesses, their qualifications and areas of expertise are set out at Exhibit A, tab 19, schedule 1.  The first two panels I propose to call will deal with conventional issues in these cases, OM&A and capital expenditures.  The third panel will deal with some distinct topics of interest, such as human resources, an area I know of importance to this Board, cost efficiency and the Cornerstone IT project, a very big project that the Board has heard about before, but we understand that it is of interest to the Board.


The fourth panel will deal, among other things, with the cost allocation, the rate design, regulatory assets and the CDM load forecast.


Now, I do not intend to lead direct evidence from the panels, generally speaking, although on occasion I may do so in order to explain a topic which I know to be of interest to the intervenors or Board Staff.  In any such case, I assure you, sir, it will be very brief.


I am now ready to call my first panel and I will have no evidence-in-chief from them.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. ROGERS:  Might they be sworn?

HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 1


Greg Van Dusen, Sworn


Mark Fukuzawa, Sworn


Ian Innis, Sworn


Sandy Struthers, Sworn

Examination by Mr. Rogers:


MR. ROGERS:  May I start to my immediate right and introduce the panel to you, Mr. Chair, Members of the Board?  First, Mr. Struthers, your name is Alexander Struthers?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  I understand, sir, you are a chartered accountant by profession?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  You worked from 1981 through to about 1999 with various accounting firms, laterally as a partner in the BDO Dunwoody LLP chartered accounting firm?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  You joined Ontario Hydro, I understand, the old Ontario Hydro, in 2000 as director of mergers and acquisitions finance?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Correct.


MR. ROGERS:  Your present position is chief information officer with the applicant?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that is correct.


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Struthers, can you just tell us very generally what areas of the evidence you will be responding to?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  I will be speaking to the IT costs related to OM&A and to capital.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.


Now, to your right and to my left is Mr. Ian Innis.  Mr. Innis, I understand, sir, that you have a bachelor of commerce degree in finance and accounting from McMaster University?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  You are a member of the Society of Management Accountants and a certified management accountant?


MR. INNIS:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  You began your career with the applicant or its predecessor, I see, in 1980?


MR. INNIS:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  And worked continuously with the company and its successor since that time?


MR. INNIS:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  I understand that you have worked your way through various areas of increasing responsibility and now are the director, corporate planning and regulatory finance, corporate finance, for the applicant?


MR. INNIS:  Acting director, correct.


MR. ROGERS:  Acting director.  Can you just help us as to which areas of the evidence you will be responding to?


MR. INNIS:  Yes.  I will be talking to issue 3.3, which are the shared services OM&A, also the methodology to allocate the shared services.  That's issue 3.4, and issue 4.1, which is rate base.  I will be discussing that, as well.


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you very much.


Now, to your right is Mr. Greg Van Dusen.  Mr. Van Dusen, I understand, sir, that you began your career with the applicant in 1981 in the finance branch?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  You hold an honours degree in mathematics from York University and a master's of business administration degree from that university?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  You also have held various positions for the applicant working your way through various areas of responsibility and now are the director of business integration for the utility?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  What area of the evidence will you be discussing or responding to, Mr. Van Dusen?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  I will be responding to the evidence -- some of the same issues that Mr. Innis is responsible for.  I am jointly responsible for issue 3.3, the proposed level of shared services and other OM&A costs.  I also will be talking to issue 4.6, the proposed level of 2008 shared service capital expenditures, and I also will be discussing issue 4.7, the methodologies to allocate shared services costs.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.


Mr. Fukuzawa, you, sir, began your career with the applicant in 1988 as an assistant business systems supervisor?


MR. FUKUZAWA:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  I see that you hold an honours bachelor of science degree in geophysics from Western Ontario?


MR. FUKUZAWA:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  And, as well, have a master's of business administration degree from the Schulich School of Business, York University?


MR. FUKUZAWA:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  Your present position is director of customer care for the utility?


MR. FUKUZAWA:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  And what areas of the evidence will you be responding to?


MR. FUKUZAWA:  I will be responding to customer care OM&A.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  Gentlemen, each of your curriculum vitae have been filed as part of Exhibit A, tab 19, schedule 2.


Do those exhibits in your names fairly set our qualifications and experience, Mr. Struthers?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, they do.


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Innis?


MR. INNIS:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Van Dusen?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, they do.


MR. FUKUZAWA:  Yes, they do.


MR. ROGERS:  I am very glad to hear that.  Those are my questions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. DeRose. 
Cross-examination by Mr. DeRose:


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


Panel, almost all of our questions will relate to issues 3.3 and 3.4.  I will have one quick snapper right at the end that relates to issue 4.1 that should be a pretty easy one, but let's start with 3.3 and 3.4.


If I can refer you to Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 6, table 1, which is on page 3 of 84, I have a few questions that relate specifically to that table.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I have that.


MR. KAISER:  What was the reference again, Mr. DeRose?


MR. DeROSE:  Yes.  It is Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 6, table 1, which is at page 3 of 84.


MR. KAISER:  I have it.  Thank you.


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.  Now, Mr. Innis, first of all, just some clarification questions on this table.


The historic 2006 numbers, are those your actual or are those the Board-approved amounts?


MR. INNIS:  They are actual results.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And for 2007, are those the actual amounts or are those the amounts produced by your 2nd generation IRM formula?


MR. INNIS:  These are the actual 2007 results.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you.


And now just in terms of -- we'll start with the common corporate functions and services.  I take it we can agree, subject to check, that between 2006 and 2008 that represents about a 22 percent increase?


MR. INNIS:  Subject to check, yes.


MR. DeROSE:  With respect to asset management, again subject to check, from 2006 to 2008 we're looking at about a 13 percent increase?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. DeROSE:  Sorry, Mr. Van Dusen, I didn't want to exclude you.


Finally, with respect to information management services, again, subject to check, from 2006 to 2008 we're looking at about a 12 percent increase?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, subject to check.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  In terms of these three line items, the corporate -- the common corporate functions and services asset management and information management services, do you know if anyone in the company at any time ran the 2nd generation IRM just to see what it would have produced had you not been in for cost of service?

MR. INNIS:  I am not aware that we have done that.

MR. DeROSE:  Is that something that would be difficult to do?

MR. INNIS:  Using the same rules as what was done for 2007, applied for 2008?

MR. DeROSE:  Correct.

MR. INNIS:  Making certain assumptions, that is something that could be done.

MR. DeROSE:  Would I be able to ask for an undertaking that that be done for those three line items?

MR. ROGERS:  I am not sure it could be done by line item.

MR. INNIS:  That's correct.  We wouldn't run the IRM based on a line item.  The IRM is based on the total revenue requirement.  So we would have to then aggregate rather than isolating just three discrete components of cost.

MR. DeROSE:  So it would -- when you say an aggregate, is it at the total OM&A level?  Or would it be at the shared services level?

MR. INNIS:  Neither of those.  The IRM would be run at the total revenue requirement level.  It would be taking the Board-approved regulatory requirement aggregate and adjusting it for appropriate escalation, inflation, productivity and things of that sort.

MR. DeROSE:  I appreciate that this is probably then getting into a question for panel 2 or panel 3, but if Mr. Rogers does not oppose the request, it is something that we would request at the total revenue requirement level.  I would be happy to have it at that level, if that is the only level you can produce it.

MR. ROGERS:  If it may, Mr. Chair, I will take it under advisement.  I am not sure what is involved in doing that work, but we can deal with it in panel 2.

MR. DeROSE:  That would be fine.  Thank you very much.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MR. DeROSE:  Now, panel, if I could just have you turn the page you will see table 2 there.  Shared services and other costs.

First of all, again, I looked through the evidence and I was not able to find, what you have produced for 2008 under the heading "total" for 2006.  Do you know if that information is in the evidence?  So your total shared services and other costs as of 2006.

MR. INNIS:  Just give me a moment, please.  I don't believe that that specific piece of information is in our evidence.

MR. DeROSE:  That is something, though, that you would have historically, would you not?

MR. INNIS:  Historically for 2006?

MR. DeROSE:  Correct.

MR. INNIS:  That's something that's on a planned basis would be filed in our 2006 application.

MR. DeROSE:  Is that something that you would be able to either -- ideally if you could actually photocopy the page that shows it or alternatively just provide us with the numbers for each of those five line items of what the total shared services and other costs, in 2006, were.

MR. INNIS:  That were submitted in our 2006 distribution application?

MR. DeROSE:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  I will undertake to point my friend to the evidence in that case.

MR. DeROSE:  That's fine, thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Give that a number, Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Undertaking J1.1.  Just so we're clear, Mr. DeRose, would you repeat what the undertaking is.

MR. DeROSE:  Yes.  To provide the total shared services and other costs for 2006 for each of the line items identified in table 2 by way of reference to the evidence in the 2006 distribution case.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1: To provide the total shared services and other costs for 2006 for each of the line items identified in table 2 by way of reference to the evidence in the 2006 distribution case

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.  If I can now turn you to Exhibit C1, tab 5, schedule 1, page 1 of 5.

MR. INNIS:  Can you give us the reference again, please.

MR. DeROSE:  Exhibit C1, tab 5, schedule 1, and we will start at page 1 of 5.

MR. INNIS:  Yes, I have that.

MR. DeROSE:  At the bottom you say a description of the common corporate costs has been provided at Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 6.  That's the exhibit we just came from that deals with shared services?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's right.

MR. DeROSE:  So as a starting question, is there a technical difference between the phrase "shared services" and common corporate costs, in your view.

MR. INNIS:  They're used interchangeably.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  If I can then have you turn to page 4 of 5.  You will see table 1, total common costs, 2008.  Do you have that?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, I do.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  For instance with the line item, asset management I was able to track that, that I could find, in fact, in the table that we were just looking at, at Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 6, page 3 of 84.  Those numbers track right to here.  However, with the common corporate costs I wasn't able to track that the same way.

Are you able to identify what is included in the $122.6 million by line item that is described in...

MR. INNIS:  Yes, I can do that for you.

MR. DeROSE:  So is it something that you would -- is it -- are there multiple lines or is it something that is two or three that you could describe for us right now or is it by way of undertaking more appropriately done.

MR. INNIS:  Perhaps I could do it for you now and see if that satisfies your question.

MR. DeROSE:  That would be great.  Thank you.

MR. INNIS:  The 122.6 that is on table 1, on page 4, that's total corporate common costs.  Included in that number are $40.5 million, which are identified as common costs in Exhibits C1-2-6.

In addition to that, there are common corporate costs that are allocated that are associated with other items that are involved, such as in the customer care work program and in the information management system work program.  And that would get us to the total of 122.6.

MR. DeROSE:  So in terms of customer care, that wouldn't be included in what you have at the bottom line, customer care management 7.2 million?

MR. INNIS:  No.  It would be in addition to that 7.2 million.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you.

Now, with respect to asset management operating functions and customer care management, there is -- there are no costs shared or allocated to the other category.  Correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. DeROSE:  Can you explain to us why those particular costs are only allocated to the transmission and distribution business lines?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Certainly.  I will talk to the asset management and operating cost and perhaps Mr. Fukuzawa could talk to the customer care costs.

The asset management and operating functions prime activities are to support the core work programs in the transmission and distribution businesses.  Their activities that are described in detail in the evidence predominantly in section C1, tab 2, schedule 6, indicate the type of activities that are undertaking.  There are no services provided by asset management to the other smaller, other smaller subsidiaries of Hydro One, remote communities, being of Brampton and Telecom.



MR. DeROSE:  Perhaps I will if I can ask a few follow-up questions, then we can deal with customer care if that is fine.

For instance, Hydro One telecom or Hydro One Brampton, are you saying that there are no -- they do not require any asset management?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No.  The services that are required by Hydro One Brampton and telecom that are corporate in nature, are actually provided out of the common corporate costs and Mr. Innis could tell you which service they are.

The asset management and operating units provide no service to these small subsidiaries, no.

MR. DeROSE:  Do you know, do they provide their own asset management or are they simply don't require any asset management?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  My understanding is they provide their own asset management and operating services.

MR. DeROSE:  There is quite a bit of evidence about the benefit of having corporate costs, there is certain efficiencies that are gained.  Why would asset management be a category that you don't share across all of the corporate entities?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  The decision with respect to the asset management services for the time being has been to by and large restrict them to the core businesses of transmission and distribution.

The nature of the Hydro One Brampton system was such that they had an asset management function in place when we took them over in, I'll say, 2000, 2001, and there was no  -- the decision was made there was no need to replace that asset management function or make those services be joined together with the Hydro One Inc. ones.


MR. DeROSE:  Do you know if there has been any analysis or study of whether there could be a benefit, a lowering of the cost to Hydro One Networks, if you did share those particular services?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, I am not aware of any study that was done in that regard.


MR. DeROSE:  Let me turn to customer care management.


Why is customer care management costs not shared across all of the business lines, but, rather, only transmission and distribution?


MR. FUKUZAWA:  Similar to the other areas, customer care management is -- the services we provide are exclusively to transmission and distribution. 

The customer-based side that is in the other utilities is quite a bit smaller, and they do provide those services for themselves.  So Hydro One takes care of their own customers.  Hydro One Brampton takes care of their own customers.


MR. DeROSE:  Again, are you aware if there has been any either internal or external study or analysis of what scales of economy could be achieved if you provided the customer care or a single entity provided the customer care for all of the subsidiaries?


MR. FUKUZAWA:  Yes.  I am not aware of a study that has been performed internally to look at what those benefits could be.


MR. DeROSE:  So I take it, then, that you wouldn't be aware of the level of duplication, if any?


MR. FUKUZAWA:  No, I wouldn't.  I would say, though, that the operations for those, within those companies, are quite a bit smaller than they would be for Hydro One.


MR. DeROSE:  So if they're quite a bit smaller, wouldn't it be quite easy for you just to provide those services?  It wouldn't be a big burden, would it?


MR. FUKUZAWA:  Potentially.  But it would also be that the cost requirement within those businesses to deliver those services might not be substantial.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay, thank you.


Now, panel, I don't think you have to go there, but again I will be referring to Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 6, and throughout that schedule you referred to, a number of times, the study that was performed by R.J. Rudden in conjunction with the 2006 distribution case.


First of all, just to confirm, the study that you are relying upon in this case is that same -- well, it's the 2006 study; correct?


MR. INNIS:  The methodology that was established in 2006; correct.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  R.J. Rudden has not been asked to look at whether their 2006 methodology has been properly applied to your 2008 budget, have they?


MR. INNIS:  No, they have not.


MR. DeROSE:  They were also, I take it, not asked to assess the prudence of your proposed increased costs from 2006 to 2008; correct?


MR. INNIS:  No, they have not.  Typically looking at prudence was not part of the Rudden study, at all.


MR. DeROSE:  Has any independent evaluator or expert reviewed the prudence of your total cost increase of shared services between 2006 and 2008?


MR. INNIS:  No, and I believe that is the purpose of this panel to do that.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Has Hydro One performed any benchmarking comparison of the level of increases in its common corporate cost compared to either other utilities in Ontario, or Canada or the United States?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I think I can help you with this question.


Hydro One has undertaken extensive benchmarking, and much of that benchmarking information has been filed in these proceedings and will be the subject for panel 3.


Specifically, benchmarking on just the corporate common functions and service part has not been done.  OM&A benchmarking is available and the information that was applied in both the external study and our internal information.


MR. DeROSE:  That was the total OM&A, not specifically the common corporate costs; correct?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  In particular, I believe in many of the cases the benchmarking was done without the common service portion included.  One of the great difficulties we find in benchmarking is that the definition of common functions and services varies incredibly across the groups of companies we were looking at.


MR. DeROSE:  Sorry, just to build on that a little bit or to unpack it, is it your position that because there are other utilities out there and it is difficult to assess what they include, that you, therefore, just didn't do the benchmarking; or that you found that it didn't provide a valuable end result specifically on common corporate costs?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I think it is more the former than the latter.  Our difficulty, with respect to the common functions and services, has to do -- there are many specific problems which are in the benchmark just in that area.  One of them has to be with the amount of outsourcing that is done. 

One of it has to do with how the common functions and services are set up and where the services are provided from and, when you are asking for a corporate common function and service, are you actually putting your hand around the whole pot, or is there services outside that you are not capturing that are actually provided? 

It takes a fair bit of untangling bundling of some of the corporate governance, if I might put it that way, or the corporate organization structure to get a good view of common costs on a common basis.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So you weren't able to perform that, what you have just described as that complicated assessment?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Typically, most of the information that has been provided by our external study doesn't generally include common costs.


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.


Panel, in terms of your common corporate costs, did you ask or did you have prepared any external review or internal study on the scales of economy, if any, that were achieved through your common corporate costs?


[Witness panel confers]

MR. INNIS:  When the company was initially set up, we took a look at that and decided at that time that the appropriate structure would be to combine those costs for overall efficiency.


Since the company was set up, we have not reviewed that.  However, we continue to believe that that is the most appropriate structure, from an efficiency and economy of scale point of view, rather than having decentralized pockets of common costs throughout the organization or costs of the organization and centralizing those for overall efficiency purposes.


MR. DeROSE:  But you have made the determination with respect to, for instance, asset management, that the -- that's not something that you would seek to have common economies of scale over all of your business lines; correct?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I think with respect to the other lines of businesses, I think my earlier point was that Hydro One Brampton had in place its own asset management function that was extremely knowledgeable about the system and the types of challenges that they face.  With respect to Hydro One Brampton, a specific, the type of specific asset management activities undertaken in Hydro One Networks are not as geared to the type of business that Hydro One Telecom had.  It wouldn't be as much benefit to them.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, going back to Mr. Innis, you indicated that when the company was formed, that determination was made.


Was that determination based on any type of expert or independent report, or was it a determination made by internal management?


MR. INNIS:  That was a judgment based on internal management.  Looking at the structure at that time, it was decentralized and there were pockets, for example, of finance functions in different parts of the organization.  There were IT aspects in different parts of the organization.  And they were brought in together at that time, based on looking at the overall economies of scale that could be achieved.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  I take it that there has been no either internal tracking or external assessment trying to track whether those economies of scale have actually been achieved?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I think I will just add two points to this.


The initial judgment applied by senior management was also informed judgment at the time.  At the time, '99, 2000 - this is going way back in history - UMS, who had done a fair bit of asset management benchmarking work were providing advice and guidance to the senior management team.  I was not part of the senior management team.  I can't tell you what studies or information was provided, but certainly as an employee I attended rollout sessions that were co-sponsored with the UMS in terms of the asset management model.


In addition, in the period of 2001 and 2002, there was a specific project set up to take a look at best asset management practices around the world, and to attempt to incorporate those best practices into our business.  So there was I will call it mid-term review, if I can call it that, in that period of time where we took a look at the practices that are out there and tried to incorporate the best ones.


MR. DeROSE:  That was 2001 to 2002?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.

MR. DeROSE:  I take it since that time there has been no similar review undertaken?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, not to my knowledge.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay, thank you.

Finally, just in terms of your internal process.  Once you have built up your common corporate costs and you look at the totals, and you look -- then you apply your Rudden methodology and you see the manner in which it will be allocated, does the company internally apply any type of tests or assessment to determine whether the overall increase that is produced by the line-by-line analysis is reasonable?

MR. INNIS:  If you can clarify that, please.  Are you talking the increase in dollars for the budget?  Or the increase in some or change in allocation?

MR. DeROSE:  Well, let's start with the increase of the dollars.

MR. INNIS:  Any increase in dollars from one year to the next, certainly is reviewed in detail as part of our annual budget process and that receives significant scrutiny and approval all the way up to our board of directors level.

MR. DeROSE:  So for instance with common corporate functions and services, we have already talked about that from 2006 to 2008.  We're looking at about a 22 percent increase.  Is that the type of increase that would set off an initial light that someone should be looking at this a little more carefully?

MR. INNIS:  On an annual basis, any changes to the budget are reviewed as part of the budget process and approved by senior management.  So yes, there are levels of review that would take place each year and not at the overall -- not just at the overall level, but on a more specific basis within each of those groups and each of the contributing components, they would be subject to review through the budget process.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Finally, in terms of -- just one moment.

Finally, I promised a quick snapper on rate base.  So here it is.  If I can have you turn to Board Staff interrogatory number 11.  The exhibit is Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 11.

MR. INNIS:  That's Exhibit H1, tab 1, schedule 11.

MR. DeROSE:  Correct.

MR. INNIS:  Yes, I have that.

MR. DeROSE:  Specifically with respect to sub-question A, there is the question that relates to the reduction in the GST to 5 percent.

You have set out, first of all, in table 1 and then the impact that that reduction in GST has on your net working cash required.  Correct?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. DeROSE:  The number of 272.1, have you -- are you seeking in this application the amended amount taking into consideration the 5 percent GST or are you still looking for your initially filed amount that was based on the
6 percent GST?

MR. INNIS:  We are seeking, in this application, the initial amounts.  This exhibit or reference that you are referring to is an interrogatory relating to the working capital and lead lag.  It is a sensitivity analysis on the working capital for the lead lag.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  What components of your application would be impacted by a reduction in GST?

MR. INNIS:  The reduction in GST would be impacted by anything that we had applied those commodity costs for example, that would have had the GST.

However, it is important to remember that GST is essentially a flow-through to the company.  We collect GST and we remit GST.  It is not a net cost to Hydro One.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So if your rates are approved on a 6 percent GST, but you remit 5 percent GST, what happens to the 1 percent?

MR. INNIS:  The 6 percent -- when the rates, GST was at 6 percent, we would collect at 6 percent.  When the rates are at 5 percent, we would collect at that 5 percent.  The difference from one year to the next, I haven't looked at it specifically, but I would expect that would be to be minimal, given how this factors into the calculation of rate base in this exhibit.  It is not, the total difference is not, is not going to be substantial between the two.

MR. DeROSE:  So the -- is it only the working capital requirement that would have -- that would be impacted by the reduction in GST?  Or are there other components of your application?

MR. INNIS:  GST would be appropriate on the other commodity costs we would purchase.  However it is important to remember, once again, that we collect and we remit GST and that it is a flow-through.  So whether it results in 
5 percent or 6 percent, the net difference would not be impacted on revenue requirement.

MR. DeROSE:  I guess what our -- we find it hard to understand why you would still be basing your application on 6 percent GST when it has already changed.  If your answer is that it's a de minimus impact on your total application; well, is that your evidence?  That there will be little or no impact on your application by the reduction in GST?

MR. INNIS:  Our application right now is based on the projected 2007 costs that were filed in August 2007.

Since then, yes, there have been some changes, some costs have increased.  Some costs have decreased.  But our over all revenue requirement we will not be submitting, that's level 1,067,000,000.

MR. DeROSE:  Sorry, I am talking only about the reduction in the impact that the GST has on your application.  Is it your evidence that the impact that the change in GST has on your application is either de minimus – well, is it de minimus by that component only?

MR. INNIS:  I don't have a specific number I could share with you on that.  So I would be reluctant to guess at that level of information.

MR. ROGERS:  Can I volunteer an undertaking here to check on it.  I think there may be a very small impact of this.  I would like to check and make sure we get this right.  So I will undertake to provide that information.

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you very much.  That would be appropriate.

MR. MILLAR:  Undertaking J1.2, and that is to conduct an analysis to determine what impact would arise from changing the GST figure from 6 percent to 5 percent.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  to conduct an analysis to determine what impact would arise from changing the GST figure from 6 percent to 5 percent

MR. MILLAR:  Is that correct?

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.

Thank you, panel, those are all of my questions.  Thank you, Board Members.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Innis, is it right the ratepayers don't bear the GST cost?

MR. INNIS:  Excuse me?


MR. KAISER:  Is it right the ratepayers do not bear GST costs in any event?

MR. INNIS:  I believe that part of our bill, we would collect GST.  Perhaps our customer care person could help me out there.

MR. FUKUZAWA:  I believe so, yes.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

I actually have an exhibit I would like to use that I distributed on Friday.

MR. MILLAR:  This is Exhibit K1.1, Mr. Chair.  VECC exhibit, it's a Hydro One shared services chart.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  HYDRO ONE SHARED SERVICES CHART SUBMITTED BY VECC
Cross-examination by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Just to describe it, it's hopefully no new information.  If there is something that that is not in the application it is because it is a mistake or we misunderstood it.  It was designed as a visual aid for this part of my examination, and the company has already approached me that they have a number of corrections or questions, I guess, about it.  What I thought we might do is go through it as part of my examination, and then perhaps get an undertaking to update it with other new information or corrections to be made, so that we have an accurate flow chart on the record.  Is that acceptable?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's acceptable.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I have extra copies here for anybody who wants it.


We created this chart to try and get an accurate picture of all of the shared services and affiliate transactions for 2008 on one piece of paper and understand how they relate to each other.


You will notice at least two of the figures we have Xs, because we weren't 100 percent sure what the total figures were going to be for those particular categories.  And I understand that you have a number of comments on specific numbers, some of them which may be typos, because threes turned into eights because of typeface, and things like that.


Perhaps -- are you comfortable going through the flow chart?


MR. INNIS:  I can go through the flow chart with you, subject to those corrections that are noted.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, great.


So the first step in the flow chart, we have Hydro One shared services for 2008, and we're looking for a total number of what is considered to be the shared services that would flow down through the rest of the chart.


Are you able to give me a total number?


MR. INNIS:  Yes.  Just a moment, please.


[Witness panel confers]

MR. INNIS:  Can I just ask for a clarification, please?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.


MR. INNIS:  When you indicated other costs, did you have specific costs in mind, or are you trying to get the full suite?  I just want to make sure we are --


MR. BUONAGURO:  I can tell you what we were thinking there.  If you go to C1, tab 2, schedule 6, table 3?  I am using the electronic version of your filing that you sent out I guess a few weeks ago.  I found it very useful.  It has a very nice index and has everything in one place.


You can see on table 3 -- oops.  That's the wrong one.


MR. INNIS:  Table 3, we're talking about the 40.5 million in the first box, the bottom right-hand corner?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  Sorry, I have the wrong exhibit.  Maybe it is not as helpful as I thought it was.  Sorry.  Table 2, where it says "other shared services".  We have here a number of negative numbers.  We think we understand why those numbers are negative, but we think within those numbers there are some positive numbers which would be -- could be characterized as a bucket of actual positive shared services, which are then being allocated.


MR. INNIS:  So your question is?


MR. BUONAGURO:  You asked me what we were getting at with "other".  I'm telling you "other" comes from that column -- from that row, which has a number of negative numbers.


MR. INNIS:  Okay.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, perhaps we should start this way.  How come those numbers are negative?


MR. INNIS:  There are a number of different reasons for that being negative in Exhibit C1-2-6.  We could take you through the exhibit that would describe that, if you like.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Just at a high level.


MR. INNIS:  There would be things like credits for capitalized overhead, for example, that would be included in that amount.


Also, there are other adjustments for -- accounting adjustments for indirect appreciation and also environmental provision.


If I can just refer you to Exhibit C1-2-6, table 29, that would take you through a list of some of those adjustments.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Our understanding is that it sounds like it is a smorgasbord of a number of things which have been netted off against each other to come up with a negative number.

MR. INNIS:  I am debating the word "smorgasbord".  That is simply not accounting terminology.  It's a grouping of other types of costs that, on a discrete basis aren't related, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So, for example, you mentioned that there is a credit as a result of capitalizing a number of the costs.  So it sounds like you've gone one step further.  I mean, there is a charge -- or there are a number of charges in all of the categories, and then some of those are capitalized and that turns into a negative for the year, in terms of the impact on the year of the shared services.


If you back out the fact that it is capitalized, there is an actual dollar value associated with those services.


MR. INNIS:  If I could just clarify that for you, the capitalized overhead adjustment, what that relates to is we have costs that we incur as part of our business that support the capital program.  So, typically, those costs are incurred in our operating costs.  However, we calculate in overhead capitalized rate. 

So what we do is when we use that rate to apply to capital projects, we take some of the dollars that are typically incurred in our core operating costs work program and they're capitalized, because they're supporting capital work.


So because the charge goes to capital, a credit or reduction then goes to the operating costs, as well.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So as I understand that, there was a charge that would normally go to OM&A, but because it has been capitalized, it gets deducted out of OM&A and goes somewhere else?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  What we're trying to figure out is what the charge was before you capitalized it and put those costs into the other costs.


MR. INNIS:  The OM&A costs before we deducted the capital overhead?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.


MR. INNIS:  Would simply be the adding back of the credit, would be the cost before it is taken out.


MR. BUONAGURO:  From what you told me before, though, doing just that isn't simply reversing the -- for example, if you go back to table 2, it is not as simple as reversing the 78.3, because that is not just overhead capitalization.


MR. INNIS:  No.  According to table 29, you will see there is a list of other items that are in there, as well.  Each of them would have their own unique story or explanation.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So what we're trying to figure out is, of all of those things in table 29 -- I don't have it up yet, but of the things in table 29, which one of those are actual shared services that are a dollar value which are then allocated as between the different affiliates?  What's the dollar value of that, the other costs, that don't fit into CCF&S, asset management, information management? 

There should be a dollar value.  I think it is very small, relatively speaking, I suspect, that would constitute the other services, other costs.


[Witness panel confers]

MR. INNIS:  Sorry.  If I can refer you to table 79 on -- sorry page 29.  Table 29 on page 81, sorry, in Exhibit C1-2-6.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


MR. INNIS:  Perhaps this will be helpful.  I can step you through that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.


MR. INNIS:  If you notice the number at the bottom of the page, $78.3 million credit at the bottom of table 29, bottom right-hand side.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.


MR. INNIS:  That 78.3 is what you referred to previously on table 2.  So all this table does is it just breaks that down.  Then you will see line items related to corporate overhead, which we just discussed.  So the elements of corporate overhead, if you left them in OM&A, they would typically be in the shared services category.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.


MR. INNIS:  Going down to the next item, environmental provision, that 7.9 is not a shared service.  That would have been incurred as part of the environmental work program costs.


The indirect depreciation, that would not be a shared service.  That relates to a depreciation credit associated with minor fixed assets that were used in support of the OM&A work program.  So it is not a shared service.


There is no deferred pension credits for 2008.  And the "other" category is 12.4, and if you care to take a look at that, it is on page 84.  There is further detail on that.


And typically what's in that other category are accounting adjustments that we make at the end of the year for recognizing pay period cut-off dates and other adjustments that are necessary to make for an accounting point of view.  We group them all together. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. INNIS:  So I can safely say they're not related to shared services in that other category. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So for 2008 on our chart at K1.1 other costs would be zero?  With that sort of understanding of what we're trying to represent as "other costs".  Or I guess another way of putting it is that there is a credit of 12.4 million being split up between the affiliates? 

MR. INNIS:  No.  I don't think that is correct.  Can you please restate your question. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, in the way that I was trying to get at, if there are other costs, you seem to have described to me there are no real other costs.  What there are are other negatives which are getting...

MR. INNIS:  These are budget and adjustments.  The true costs in terms of shared services, that would be impacted, would be the overhead credit of $47.7 million.
MR. BUONAGURO:  But that's something you're doing to your costs.  That is not a cost in and of itself. 

MR. INNIS:  Yes.  It's a reduction to costs; correct. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  So there are no -- in my chart, other costs will be, it looks like negative 12.4, because of some credits that are going to happen in the year. 

MR. INNIS:  I would be reluctant to call that negative 12.4 a shared services cost -- 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Hmm-hmm. 

MR. INNIS: -- in that sense. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, so nothing? 

MR. INNIS:  Well, I would have to look at that.  I'm just saying I described the nature of the type of costs that are included in that. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Maybe that is an adjustment when we get to getting this on a corrected table, you can think about that and describe it however you want.

MR. INNIS:  We will be as helpful as we can to clarify that for you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thanks.  So if for now we were to excludes that other cost category, the total Hydro One Networks shared services for 2008 would simply be the total of the four points underneath it CCF&S, asset management, information management, customer care.

MR. INNIS:  If I can refer you to an exhibit that might be helpful.  It is Exhibit C1, tab 5, schedule 1.  It is table 1 on page 4. 

You will see total common costs summary on that table. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, table 1.

MR. INNIS:  Table 1 on page 4.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's the 395.6? 

MR. INNIS:  That's correct. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, you will see in the table that we prepared, we have customer care costs of $106.8 million dollars.  I don't see that in this table.  I think you had something to say about the inclusion of that number in our table.

MR. INNIS:  Yes, I can explain that.  The customer care costs that are on table 1 are related to the portion of customer care costs that are common and therefore allocated.  There are, in addition to that, core customer care costs that are managed as part of that work program that are not subject to allocation.  So the customer care work program is comprised of costs that are directly incurred by customer care, plus a slice of allocated costs.  The allocated costs are what you see on table 1.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So on that definition, our table customer care costs should be total 7.5 million.  Is that right? 

MR. INNIS:  If you're looking at the common portion, yes, that's correct. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Then the distribution share of that would be 7.2? 

MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  And those are both a subset the total customer care costs of 106.8? 

MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  And the -- but the bulk of the 106.8, you don't consider common costs? 

MR. INNIS:  No.  They are uniquely associated with distribution and our billing and collecting and cost of operations that are dedicated to distribution. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  This may be an issue of definition or semantics, but is that essentially saying you directly allocate the rest of it to other transmission or distribution as opposed to going through a...

MR. INNIS:  It's a direct, your terminology, directly allocated, you’re using two terms, I believe.  We direct a charge the bulk of the customer care costs to a distribution work program.  They're not subject to allocation. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, I think one of the corrections you had were for the asset management costs.  I think we have transposed it under asset management costs we had distribution share 46.8.  I think it is 46.3. 

MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think we made a similar error in corporate management, the -- under 6.2, we had distribution 2.8 and I think it is 2.3.  Is that right? 

MR. INNIS:  Can you repeat that, please? 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Maybe you can tell me what other corrections you have, so we can do the actual numbers that are in the table. 

MR. INNIS:  I had a value under the asset management of $46.3 million. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  We corrected that one.

MR. INNIS:  Customer care, the DX portion is 103.8. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  With the portion that you believe or that you characterize as being a true shared services being 7.2.

MR. INNIS:  That would be a subset; correct. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Any other corrections to the numbers on their face? 

MR. INNIS:  Yes.  There were some other corrections, I believe.  The corporate communications, 5.7 in total, and 3.8.  General counsel --

MR. ROGERS:  Just hold on a chance.  Let's get this right. 

Corporate communications is shown as 4.4 million on Mr. Buonaguro's chart, is that what you're looking at? 

MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  That should be put a line through that.  What do we put in instead? 

MR. INNIS:  3.8. 

MR. ROGERS:  What other changes are there? 

MR. INNIS:  And the number above in corporate communications instead of 6.6, it should be 5.7. 

MR. ROGERS:  All right. 

MR. INNIS:  And the general counsel instead of 4.1, 2.9. 

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  Are there any other changes so we can do this all at once? 

MR. INNIS:  I believe that on the affiliate services table below under "telecom," instead of 8.732 million it should be 9 million even. 

MR. ROGERS:  All right.

MR. INNIS:  In the same table, under Hydro One remote communities, HORCI, the outbound services should be 1.619.

MR. ROGERS:  So the 1.214 should be 1.619? 

MR. INNIS:  That's correct. 

MR. ROGERS:  Any other changes that you are aware of at the moment that need to be made? 

MR. INNIS:  Not that I'm aware of. 

MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, with respect to that last change, you have taken the 1.214 million in outbound services for HORCI and changed it to 1.619.  I think our confusion came from an answer to an interrogatory.  I understand in your application the number is 1.619.  But then in our, one of our interrogatories, we asked you for the schedule, I can tell you the -- we asked you for the Schedule A to that particular service level agreement for 2008. 

Sorry. 

MR. INNIS:  That I believe is Exhibit H12.1.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  The schedule we got back had, has the number 1.214.  I think what happened is that the schedule you provided us was for 2007.  Is that correct?  And the 2007 service schedule agreement. 

MR. INNIS:  No.  I believe our intent was to provide the 2008 service level agreement to you. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  So how come the 2008 service level agreement says 1.214 versus the application which says 1.619? 

MR. INNIS:  I can check that for you, but I don't have that answer right away. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  So I’ll confirm the actual number is 1.619, which means that Hydro One Networks is actually providing 1.619 worth of service to HORCI. 

MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct. 

MR. INNIS:  That is what is in Exhibit H8-3, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I take it from what you just said that there are in fact service level agreements for 2008 that should reflect the accurate numbers?


MR. INNIS:  Yes.  We have service level agreements for 2008.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I don't think they were -- the 2008 agreements were actually provided.  I think the 2007 agreements were provided.  Maybe I am wrong.


MR. INNIS:  If I could just check your question, I believe it is -- we were providing 2008.  Let me just check the question that is attached with our exhibit.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


MR. INNIS:  The question asked for 2008, and I believe that we -- our intent was to provide 2008, but certainly I can check to see why that number is different for you.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I think maybe I know what happened.  I think if you look at Exhibit A, tab 8, which I think attaches the agreements for 2007.  I think maybe you provided the -- there was a missing schedule from here, which was schedule A for that particular agreement. 

I think when you are looking at that, you can look at what was provided in the application.  I think they're 2007 agreements.


MR. INNIS:  I can check that for you.


MR. ROGERS:  Rather than doing this -- we will check it and let the --


MR. KAISER:  Yes, Mr. Rogers, maybe you could have your witnesses over the evening make any corrections they want or any explanations they want to this exhibit?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Kaiser.  I will do that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So we will end up with a revised version?

MR. ROGERS:  A revised version, in that if there were some erroneous information provided, we will give you an -- we will admit it, and hopefully give you an explanation as to why it happened.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Oh, yes, we need an undertaking number for that.


MR. MILLAR:  J1.3, to provide an updated version of K1.1.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO PROVIDE UPDATED VERSION OF K1.1.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, relating this chart -- and I think we -- the corporate -- the CCF&S number, I think there were no corrections to that number.  You have $84.2 million as being the total; correct?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  We just wanted to know, looking at the 2006 Rudden review, which is at Exhibit H, tab 12 -- I think it is Exhibit H, tab 12, schedule 23.


The reference within the Rudden report is Exhibit B(2008)-6.  It doesn't actually have a page number on it.


If I could -- do you have it there?


MR. INNIS:  I have the Rudden report.  Go ahead.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  It talks about the total CCFS charge for 2008.  Granted this is back in 2006, I guess, when this was prepared, but it talks about the total CCFS charges being $219,170,831?


MR. INNIS:  Can you refer me to the page number, please?


MR. BUONAGURO:  I am looking at the actual Rudden report, and it is one of the attachments.  It is listed here as Exhibit B (2008), Hydro One common corporate cost model, budgeted costs and activities for common corporate functions and services 2008.   It comes up with a total CCFS charge for 2008 of just under 220 million.


MR. INNIS:  Just a moment, please.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure. 

MR. INNIS:  Exhibit F for 2008, is that the page you're referring to, 219,178.31 million?


MR. BUONAGURO:  I have 219.170.  At the bottom of the table, it says B(2008)-6.


MR. INNIS:  Yes, I have that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  We were wondering how that 219 million maps onto our chart.  Where would you find that 219 million?


MR. INNIS:  The exhibit that you are referring to with the 219 million, that was prepared in 2006 for that previous hearing.  What we have in the evidence currently reflects the 2008 budget that has been prepared more recently than what this information was prepared.  So they're not the same.


This reflects information that's approximately two years old, whereas what we provided in the evidence is reflective of our more current business planning process.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So it is as simple as that, that in 2006 you were predicting a CCFS charge total of about 220 million and now it is only 84.2 million?


MR. INNIS:  The number that's in the Rudden report is the total allocation, whereas the other number is stated as specifically distribution.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I have the distribution sub-number for CCFS in our chart as being 40.5 million, so it is a further reduction, and I have the total as being 84.2.


MR. INNIS:  That's correct.  In Exhibit C1-2-6?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.


MR. INNIS:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I guess that leaves my question open:  How come in 2006 it was 220 million for the total, and in 2008, as applied for, it is something in the order of 85 million?  Not that I am complaining.  I just want to understand how the change happened.


MR. INNIS:  I would have to go through the line item detail to see how that would build up.  Just so you know, that is a different budget period and so there would invariably be changes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Do you want to take an undertaking to see specifically how the numbers change over two years?


MR. INNIS:  Sure.  I can do that.


MR. MILLAR:  Undertaking J1.4.  Mr. Buonaguro, could you assist us in repeating exactly what you are asking for?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  A reconciliation between the CCFS charge for 2008 that was referred to in the Rudden report at, I guess it is, table B(2008)-6, with the apparent CCFS charge for 2008 that is in the application which was perceived to be $84.2 million, how the two numbers reconcile or what has changed between 2006 and 2008 to come to those different levels.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  TO PROVIDE A RECONCILIATION BETWEEN THE CCFS CHARGE FOR 2008 REFERRED TO IN THE RUDDEN REPORT AT TABLE B(2008)-6 WITH THE APPARENT CCFS CHARGE FOR 2008.


MR. ROGERS:  So the company will undertake to do it.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Buonaguro, is this a convenient time to take the morning break?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Twenty minutes.


--- Recess taken at 10:59 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:20 a.m.

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.

Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Just quickly before I move on.  When the panel was looking at our Exhibit K1.1 an updating it, you mentioned and I think you gave me a number of $395.6 million as being the total number that you have been working from.  And that came from table 1 from Exhibit C1, tab 5, schedule 1.  Which means that we would expect that the distribution number should come out to 185.6, -- the correction should be 185.6.  If that is not the case perhaps specifically explain why the correction K1.1 doesn't reconcile with table 1, if that doesn't turn out to be the case.

MR. INNIS:  We will use number 185.6 as the reference that we will provide the details on.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  Now, if you could turn to Exhibit H, tab 12, schedule 18.  This is a VECC interrogatory and we asked at part B for a highlight of an increase in service levels and costs which add a total of $10 million to CCFS between 2006 and 2008.

Your answer, you broke it into four categories: finance, you said there was a $4.6 million increase associated with work requirements for Bill 198, human resources, 2.1 million; general counsel and secretariat, 0.7, prior external legal costs; and regulatory affairs, 3.9 million higher OEB fees.

Now, between 2006 and 2008, as these increased costs are coming up, can you give a description that the process for defining how they are going into either the general bucket and then shared per drivers versus directly allocated to one of the business units, in particular.

MR. INNIS:  That would be in the Rudden study that was filed in the response to the exhibit, we would have followed that methodology.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So for example, would costs related -- you mentioned specifically the Bruce to Milton transmission expansion in your answer to that interrogatory.

Were the costs -- one would assume intuitively the costs for that were all attributed directly to transmission.  Was that the case?

MR. INNIS:  I'm sorry, I'm having difficulty hearing you.  There is a echo.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm getting the same thing.  That's why I have this weird look on my face.

MR. MILLAR:  Perhaps try turning it off and on, Mr. Buonaguro and see if that helps.

MR. BUONAGURO:  How is that?  No.

MR. ROGERS:  I can hear.  Want me to answer the question?

MR. BUONAGURO:  How is that?  There's some kind of feedback.  Maybe I will move over.

MR. KAISER:  There may be two mikes on up there.  That would do it, if that was the case.

MR. BUONAGURO:  How is that?  Is that better?

MR. INNIS:  I think that is better.

MR. BUONAGURO:  My example is, in your interrogatory response, you mentioned specifically the Bruce to Milton transmission expansion and one would intuitively expect that would be a simple one, that, those costs would be directly attributed to transmission.  Is that the case?  Or if not, what was the thought process behind that?

MR. INNIS:  Bruce to Milton is indeed a transmission project.  However, the support that comes from the regulatory affairs group, regulatory affairs uses a common driver.  And looking at the nature of the work programs that year, they would have adjusted the application percentage to deduct a proportion to distribution or transmission.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Let me see if I understand that.  You're saying that, are you saying that the people who do that work are generally allocated already?  So you couldn't specifically allocate their time to the Bruce to Milton transmission, instead you have increased the allocator?

MR. INNIS:  No.  I'm not saying that.  What I am saying is that the regulatory affairs group supports, in general, the transmission and the distribution program.  On an annual basis, the group takes a look as part of the budget process in terms of the work load in that group and they will assess what proportion of their work is going to be supporting transmission, what percentage of the work will be supporting distribution, and they would define the cost driver appropriately.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So just adjust a percentage allocation for the year based on their projected plan?

MR. INNIS:  Based on a review of the type of work that is coming up in that year, correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, you made reference to the Rudden methodology in the first part of your answer.  I think you confirmed with Mr. DeRose that the methodology hasn't changed since 2006, that when you do your allocations you use the same methodology from 2006.  Is that correct?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  But I would assume you're not using the same data going into the methodology.

MR. INNIS:  That is correct.  The methodology remains the same.  And as part of the Rudden methodology, that calls for a review of the drivers on an annual basis that would take into account things like any shifts in work programs as far as supporting transmission or distribution.  Also, it would take into consideration other drivers, for example, the overall level of program spend.  That would change on an annual basis.

So we refreshed the study based on current information, while still using the previous approval methodology.

MR. BUONAGURO:  When you "refresh" as you put it, do you refresh across the Board?  Or do you pick isolated types of data to look at and refresh?  Is everything looked at and touched?  Or is it just what comes to mind as being significantly different?

MR. INNIS:  No.  There is a thorough process each year as part of our budgets, where we survey all of the groups and we canvas for new information and we do a thorough update of all of the drivers that feed into the cost allocation as part of our regulatory process.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, as I understand it some of the drivers or a lot of the drivers are based on time studies.

MR. INNIS:  Some of the drivers are; correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  As part of your refresh, do you refresh the time studies?

MR. INNIS:  There is aspects of the time studies, within the -- we don't refresh, we don't survey in terms of people tracking their detailed work on an annual basis.  However, what we do is, we ask the business unit leaders to review the work program, in terms of where they are spending their time in the up coming year.  So in that sense, there is an update to the allocation of time on an annual basis.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Let me see if I understand that.

So the 2006 methodology -- and I guess we can call them base allocations -- would be based on time studies, actual time studies.

MR. INNIS:  No.  That is not correct.  The 2006 methodology was based on a number of drivers and that's under the Rudden study.

Some of those drivers were estimates of time that the group would spend on certain work, but a number of other drivers, if not the vast majority of drivers, are based on quantifiable drivers such as number of staff, work program level, number of work stations of computers and that type of thing.

MR. BUONAGURO:  To the extent that the -- to the extent that the methodology and the allocations are based on time studies, the time studies you're using for the most part are from 2006 Rudden as an initial base.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry, that's not correct.  Consistent with the Rudden methodology, we update the activity analysis that goes in to the cost-allocation methodology and the time study information is updated, as well.  The time study information used for this proceeding, in the asset management organization, which is done almost entirely by time study, was updated coming into this application.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You mentioned the asset management specifically.

I understand, I think this is in accordance with the Rudden report, you didn't do a full year's time study update; right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.  We do a six-week time study.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is there any magic to which six weeks you pick that makes it the most appropriate six weeks, or is it random?  How do you pick the six weeks that are going to represent the full year's allocation?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  We are aware that you have to be a little bit careful when you pick the time period for the time study.  To the extent there is one activity which is overpowering the others, then you may skew the results because of that.


So we look for a period of time when the activities undertaken across the asset management organization are kind of, if I can call them, at the generic levels, that there is nothing specific driving the activities or the allocation in the time period.


Especially if you go over a six-week period, then you cover a month-end process, you cover a reporting process, you cover a normal process in the many organizations, in terms of the activities they undertake.


So we found six weeks in the spring time to be not a bad time period to pick.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So you pick a time where nothing in particular is moving into one distribution transmission?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  It is virtually impossible to pick a time period where there is no special project ongoing or special activities ongoing.  You just have to make sure that there is a balance of activities or special projects being undertaken, such that there is not just one game in town which could potentially bias the results.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, my understanding from the transmission -- from the Hydro One transmission case last year is that the Rudden methodology is being looked at for the upcoming 2009 and 2010 transmission filing.  Is that understanding correct?


MR. INNIS:  We have engaged Rudden to review the methodology to confirm that it is still appropriate to use.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So I take it that it is at least possible that the methodology may change or specific drivers may change?  There may be changes to the Rudden methodology?


MR. INNIS:  That is possible.  I am not aware of any changes at this time, though.


MR. BUONAGURO:  When the Rudden methodology came in or was introduced I guess in 2006, one of the results was a significant shift in costs from transmission to distribution; correct?


MR. INNIS:  I can't recall the value.  I believe there was a shift.  I can't recall if that was significant or not.


MR. BUONAGURO:  It was big enough to be a significant issue in the transmission case.  I think I cross-examined you on it.


MR. INNIS:  I can't recall how much it was.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  The point is there was a material shift between the companies.


My question is:  If that happens in 2009 for -- in the review of the Rudden methodologies that applies to the Hydro One, specifically your distribution and transmission companies, how is that going to be captured in the distribution rates going forward, given that we're probably going to be going into an incentive regulation mechanism for the next three years?


For example, it is possible that the update to the Rudden methodology may transfer costs away from transmission -- sorry, from distribution to transmission, for example, in 2009, but that there would be no opportunity to make the corresponding adjustment to distribution rates, just as a theoretical example.


MR. INNIS:  In theory, that's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So can you -- I'm going to ask you to propose something you haven't proposed.


How would we go about capturing any differences that flow out of the Rudden methodology over the next few years?


[Witness panel confers]

MR. INNIS:  In terms what we would expect, we would expect very little change to take place, because the methodology is very stable, and we would refresh it on an annual basis.


Then in terms of what we might do, we would have to deal with that at the time, but we're not expecting anything material to come out of that review.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


Now, I think you talked a bit about this with Mr. DeRose, about the inbound services.  As a general question -- well, we note in particular, in this particular application, that the inbound service from telecom are increasing from $6.4 million in 2006 to $8.7 million in 2008.


According to IR response at Exhibit H, tab 12, schedule 2, part E, just -- basically it was attributed to telecom passing through increased labour and pension costs.


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that is correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Is there a process for examining that sort of pass-through of costs between an affiliate and the regulated entity?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, there is.  As part of the annual budget process, all of the inter-company costs are calculated, and they are reviewed by the business leaders of each of those entities.


So there is a -- as with any shared services, there's information that's provided, and there is push-back and there is challenge, and there is a development of full understanding of the services that are being sold to another entity.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So is that entirely internal to the affiliate and to the regulated entity?


MR. INNIS:  If you're talking between telecom and ourselves, yes, that would be done internally.  There would be discussions and a meeting that would have some understanding of the nature of the service, and also questions, and certainly with respect to any increase like that, there would have been explanations sought.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I would like to ask you some questions specifically about the corporate head office, and I am talking about the chair, board of directors and CEO.


Now, they fill out time studies or they have filled out time studies in the past in order to set out their time; correct?


MR. INNIS:  There is a recording of their time; correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you tell me how often they do their time studies?


MR. INNIS:  As part of the annual budget process, there is an assessment of the time that they are spending in supporting the different affiliates and the -- how they spend their time and what the nature of their activities would be.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, is it on a prospective basis, or do they say, This is what we did last year, so this is what we will allocate this year?  How does that work?


MR. INNIS:  No.  It would be looking at the nature of their work and what they're expecting to complete and what they're engaged in.  They would fill in a proportion of their time in support of those views.


MR. BUONAGURO:  It is not like my docket, where I docket every hour that I do?


MR. INNIS:  No, it is not the same as that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  In relation to that, I understand -- perhaps you can tell me what the definition would be of corporate costs or costs that would be specific to the shareholder account.


MR. INNIS:  Yes.  If you could just give me a moment, please?


Can you clarify the question, please?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, my understanding is that there are costs that would go specifically to the shareholder, the shareholder account.  I guess other than that simple definition, what kind of costs would normally be expected to be paid for by the shareholder, so that, for example, if time is spent by the CEO or the board of directors and the chair doing these things, they would be charged to the shareholder?


MR. INNIS:  So there would be core costs that they would be involved in that would support things, I would expect, like board meetings, for example, or senior-level activities.  That would be in comparison or as opposed to reviewing budgets from the subsidiaries or the affiliates.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Did you say "as opposed to"?


MR. INNIS:  No.  What I mean is the executive officers would be supporting both shareholder initiatives, as well as supporting other line of business work.  So they would take a look at the nature of their time and say, This proportion of the time I spend supporting, say, networks or other subsidiaries versus the time they would spend supporting the board efforts or other efforts of that level.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I have a few examples here that maybe you could comment on.  Board of directors meetings, I guess some portion of that would be allocated to the shareholder?


[Witness panel confers]

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I think I have to clarify.  I think we were confused here.

In terms of the costs of the Hydro One corporate management, they are all allocated to the transmission/distribution or other businesses.

There are no costs which we consider to be shareholder funded.  Hydro One Now Inc. is a core line of business, our work is core transmission and distribution business, with some of the other small affiliates.  The activities of the Hydro One senior management team are all fully associated with that core work program activity.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So if we were to put in a shareholder account, the account would be zero?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, my experience with other companies, we talk about shareholders and the cost of minding the investment and that sort of -- that sort of being the underlying justification for allocating a portion of certainly senior management's time to the account of the shareholder; and you're telling me there is no such cost in this particular case because of the way that you are set up?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct, with one small caveat and correction to my earlier statement.

I believe there are some donation costs which are made at the Hydro One Inc. level that are not allocated to the core line of business, and not considered shareholder-funded.  I don't know the amount.  I think the amount is about the amount of about $1 million.

Other than that, with respect to the first part of your question, that is absolutely correct.  The activities of the senior management team are solely focussed on the core lines of businesses and the subsidiary's businesses and are therefore all allocatable.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So forgive me for not being familiar with them.  When I compare Hydro One Inc. to Enbridge Inc., for example, you're saying two completely different situations?

Enbridge Inc. is a true shareholder in your mind that would be charged shareholder expense?  Whereas Hydro One Inc. doesn't share that same burden?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Just a moment.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I'm just not familiar enough with Enbridge's structure to answer that question.  I'm sorry.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, in your earlier answers you did distinguish Hydro One from -- you seem to understand what I was getting at in terms of shareholder account, and that would seem to be something normally charged.  But you said this isn't Hydro One Inc., Hydro One Inc. is a core, I guess, company.

You seem to be saying there is really no shareholder, at least not in terms of allocation.

MR. ROGERS:  No -– go ahead.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I was just going to explain.  My understanding is that in many of the other larger companies with their shared services, they're allocated and there is a portion which is funded by the shareholder.

You are dealing with parts of that company that are either not regulated, or are private companies, or taking some sort of non-regulated activity.  That is not the case with Hydro One Inc.  That's all I was trying to say.  That was the distinction I was trying to make.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So just for completeness sake for my notes.  I had a number of other examples.  I started with board of directors meetings, discussions with the OEFC on financial policy matters, discussions with the Ministry of Energy and the Minister of Finance on government policy, preparation of consolidated financial statements, preparation of Hydro One annual report.

None of these costs associated with doing these things, are allocated to the shareholder?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm just checking some of my questions here.  I think that blanket answer sort of answers a lot of my other questions.

MR. ROGERS:  I just want to draw to my friend's attention ,if I might -- there is an interrogatory response, I understand, at Exhibit H, tab 2, schedule 2, I'm sorry.  Exhibit H, tab 12, schedule 2.  Page 3.  If Mr. Van Dusen would look at that, I think there is a small charge, I think, relatively speaking to the shareholder shown there, dealing with chairman's expenses.

Why that is allocated I have no idea, but there it is.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I am embarrassed to say I have been corrected by my legal counsel and I think this interrogatory does show that there is a very small portion, one percent allocated to the shareholder.  I apologize for the inconvenience.

MR. ROGERS:  How much is it?  $3,000?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  There is a nominal allocation.  The cost driver for that is non-energy revenue assets blend.  One of my throw away questions here, just to understand, what exactly does that cost driver mean?

MR. INNIS:  Can you just give me a moment, please.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.

MR. INNIS:  I believe there was an interrogatory which I can't put my fingers on right now, but it is, the response would be it is a mix.  A number of our drivers take into consideration the overall level of assets in the business, and this one is a mix of the overall level of assets that would be apportioned to transmission and distribution, as well as the proportion of non-energy revenues, as well.

So it is blending two different drivers in this one.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Take a stab in the dark.  So the fact you're allocating $3,000 to the shareholder may perhaps have something to do with office space?  I wonder if there are assets that the shareholder has.

MR. INNIS:  That is perhaps the case.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Something like that?  Okay.  It's only $3,000.  I don't think we need to dig through the cost drivers to figure out how that was done.  In fact, I thank you for the reference.  I was actually going to go through that and a couple of other allocation examples where basically it is either 1 percent or less of costs associated with the CEO, the Board, and the chair are allocated generally to the shareholder, that's the case across the Board.  It is consistent with what you're saying is that, in general the policy is no allocation to the shareholder.

MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that something that was mentioned in the Rudden methodology by any chance?  Does Rudden, I didn't pick that up.  Did Rudden -- is that something Rudden looked at?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I will respond to that question.  I was the witness for the cost allocation and appeared with the Rudden witnesses back in the distribution application.

It was their view, from their discussions and their analysis and the work they did at Hydro One, that virtually none of the costs performed, the activities performed by the senior management team, were, in their mind, traditionally shareholder-funded type costs.  So yes, they did consider it.  I'm not too sure whether it was written up in their study but certainly when they took a look at the drivers with us when they did the interviews and worked through the methodologies with us, that was their understanding and that was their belief.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So if I want to look at evidence relating to Rudden's thoughts on that, you're saying it might be in the study but it might not be?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I can't remember whether it is in the study.  I'm virtually certain it came up in the hearing in 2006.

So I suspect a transcript search would show that, but I can't say for certain.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm tempted to ask you to give an undertaking to provide whatever evidence you want to rely on now in support of this particular approach to corporate cost allocation.  Did you want to take that undertaking?

MR. ROGERS:  No, no.  I don't.

Mr. Chairman, the evidence is what it is.  There is nothing more I think we can add.  I don't understand why any of these costs would be allocated to the shareholder.  The company, this company is in the business of transmitting electricity.  That's all basically it does.

MR. KAISER:  I think that's right, Mr. Buonaguro.  I think it's pretty clear the position is that all of these expenses relate to the core business and not to other businesses.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Buonaguro, can I interject for a second here?  Mr. Van Dusen, I have the decision, 2006 decision, the distribution rates.  I am looking at page 22 where it covers a discussion on the corporate cost allocation.  I don't know whether you have a copy of this with you, or not.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I can get a copy.


MR. ROGERS:  I just happen to have one.  I will give it to the witness, if I could.


--- Mr. Rogers passes document to Mr. Van Dusen


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I have that now, sir.


MR. VLAHOS:  If you turn to page 22?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.


MR. VLAHOS:  At least on my printout, it is the top paragraph.  It is paragraph 3.6.4.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I see that, sir.


MR. VLAHOS:  So it says that:

"VECC noted that the cost allocated to Hydro One Inc., the holding company, appeared to be understated, as they only represent 0.6 percent of the total common costs and only 2 percent of the total corporate costs."


I am just going to stop here for a minute.  What's the difference, again - help me understand - common costs and corporate costs in this context?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.  I believe what the question, what the -- I'll say concern, although that may not be the right adjective, that was being expressed at this time, is Hydro One Inc., the makeup of Hydro One Inc., the holding company at Hydro One, is extremely small.  I believe there are only seven or eight people in the holding company at -- back then, and even today.  It is the president and CEO, the CFO, the treasurer and a few others who are in the holding company.


So I think what they were saying here is that it's a very, very small part of corporate costs, but you are allocating very, very little of that cost to the common costs that get passed through to the transmission and distribution business.


So I think the note here is that you have 2 percent of corporate costs and you're allocating some of it down, but it is only 0.6.  I think that was the point being made, as I understood it.


MR. VLAHOS:  And the balance of it, the balance of it would be the shareholders' costs, I guess?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  The balance of it would have been shareholder costs, yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  So if I were to look at the figure for 0.6 percent and 2 percent, what would they be today?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I understand the question, sir.  I just don't have that information with me.  It would be easy enough to get, but I just don't have it with me.


MR. VLAHOS:  I take it the 0.6 percent and the 2 percent were the result of applying their Rudden cost study?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct, sir.


MR. VLAHOS:  So if you could assist me in getting those percentages, I would appreciate it.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.  Mr. Buonaguro, sorry.


MR. MILLAR:  I will give that an undertaking response, Mr. Vlahos, J1.5, and just so we're clear, could either Mr. Vlahos or the Panel state what the undertaking is for us?

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.5:  TO PROVIDE UPDATE OF THE COMPARISON OF THE 0.6 PERCENT WITH 2 PERCENT SHOWN IN THE 2006 DISTRIBUTION DECISION WITH THE PROPOSAL.


MR. ROGERS:  Could you just state what you understand you undertook to do, Mr. Van Dusen?  I believe it is to update the comparison of the 0.6 percent with 2 percent shown in the 2006 distribution decision with the current situation.


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.


MR. VLAHOS:  The current situation being the proposal?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I have some other questions which I think might relate to this panel.  If not, maybe you can just tell me, and tell me where to go in terms of another panel.


I have some questions about CDM spending and how it is incorporated into the application.


Is that something I can try?


MR. INNIS:  To a certain level here, but primarily CDM spending would be on panel 4.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So let me start down the road and see where I get.


MR. INNIS:  Sure.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Looking at interrogatory response H1-59, I can just summarize it for you.  The question was about variances between -- variances in the OM&A figures between 2005 to 2007.


One of the reasons for the variations in OM&A over those years, it was said, had to do with spending on CDM going up.


MR. INNIS:  Just a moment, please.  You're referring to exhibit --


MR. BUONAGURO:  H1-59.


MR. INNIS:  H1-59.


MR. INNIS:  Whereabouts on the exhibit, please?  Is that under 2007?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  If you look at -- well, if you look at 2005, for example, it talks about in the drivers.  It says initiation of conservation demand management programs.


Then in 2007, it is an increase of $5 million in expenditures in support of conservation demand management.  So basically the explanations here, yes, OM&A is going up in these years, but it's because in 2005 we started doing CDM, and then two years later in 2007 we increased 2007 spending over 2006 by $5 million in CDM.  That's how I get it.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Hopefully I can help you.  The full piece of $5 million is not in the full CDM expenditures.  It is one of the reasons that makes up the expenditures.


If I could take you to Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 6, these are the asset management function costs.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, C1, tab 2, schedule 6?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  It's page 37 of that exhibit, table 13.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Table?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Table 13, which provides the asset management function costs.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  The first line on that table talks about strategy and business development activities.  As part of this group, this is where a lot of the strategy and program development is done with respect to the smart meter programs and with the CDM-related programs.


So there are some CDM-related expenditures, in terms of Hydro One's management of programs, working with the OPA and OPA's programs, and working with the various utilities and LDCs on the joint programs that are contained in these -- in this line.


So part of those dollars are associated with the CDM program, and I believe that is what this is referring to.


So they're referring to an overall increase of costs.  Part of that increase is embedded in these numbers.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  I think, okay.  So the question asked about overall increases in O&M.  The answer was some of the increases in overall O&M are attributable to CDM spending.  2005 CDM was initiated, I think, the first time.  2007, the overall spending on CDM was increased by 5 million, and I think your point to that is, well, that's captured in a specific subset of the O&M in this table?  Is that what you're telling me?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I'm sorry, I'm saying part of that increase of $5 million in CDM spending is contained on this line, that this function helps support CDM initiatives that Hydro One is involved in.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, are you pointing that out because even though that interrogatory response that I referred you to says $5 million, you're saying that whole $5 million isn't in --


MR. VAN DUSEN:  That whole $5 million is not in this line, no.


MR. BUONAGURO:  It was somewhere else.  Some of it is somewhere else?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  That is sort of the clarification; correct?  You don't want me to think the whole 5 million was added to O&M for 2007; is that what you're trying to warn me against?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, if I could go to C1, tab 2, schedule 1, table 1, can you identify in this table where the O&M CDM spending is captured?  I understand what you're telling me, that some the O&M spending that was referred to in the variance wasn't in O&M in the first place, but some of it was.  I'm assuming it is somewhere in these tables. 

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I'm sorry.  I'm going to have to point that specifically to panel 2.  I can identify a portion of the shared services and other, but I will have to actually defer this to panel 2 to address the rest of this. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Do you want me to track all of it to panel 2 or do you want me to keep trying?  Because I can tell you what I am getting at.  It maybe useful to know now then you can figure it out. 

MR. ROGERS:  Let's try and answer the question now if we can.  Why don't you try the question and hopefully they can answer it. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, if you look at H2-7, Exhibit H, tab 2, schedule 7.  You were asked about rate-funded CDM and the answer was, rate-funded CDM spending in 2007 was $17.8 million.  

MR. INNIS:  Yes, we have that. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I have the shortcut version which says that this exhibit says CDM spending in 2007 was $17.8 million.  That's at response A for 2007 Hydro One spent $17.8 million of rate-funded MARR CDM. 

What we have here is –- in H2-6 which is before that, it talks about the 2006 rate funded CDM and says that it was 16.4 million. 

Now, my first question was to try and figure out where that $5 million increase 2006, to 2007 was.  I guess your answer is going to be 1.4 million of that was in O&M.  And then the rest of it was in somewhere else.  Which is I guess what you were warning me against.  Is that a summary of what I am going to get? 

MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, if you look at A-16-1, appendix D, page 4.

MR. INNIS:  Just give us a moment.  A number of these questions were assigned to panel 4, but we will do our best to deal with them.  Exhibit A16? 

MR. BUONAGURO:  A16-1, appendix D. 

MR. INNIS:  A16-1, appendix D? 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  Page 4. 

MR. INNIS:  Yes, we have that. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Part of what you're saying in this stakeholder session is that: 
"We are not proposing that separate CDM projects go into the rate base for this application.  Our programs would be delivered through the funds that the OPA is managing..."

then so on about load forecast.  We got from that, you said in 2008 there is no CDM spending included.  Is that correct? 

MR. INNIS:  No, that's not entirely correct.  As we mentioned just a moment ago, there is a small portion for CDM spending included under shared services and other costs as $1 million in 2008. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I take that.  But in the O&M portion, specifically we're talking about program costs and such, there is no CDM spending. 

MR. INNIS:  That's correct.  Our CDM spending would be funded through the OPA and it's not included in our revenue requirement. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  So at least to the question which is this:  In 2006 you had in O&M $16.4 million, and in 2007 you had $17.8 million in your O&M for CDM spending and there is no CDM spending in 2008.  We're trying to track where that money has come out.  We don't see it coming out in O&M which is why we're asking you to show in your O&M spending lines which one was CDM would be captured in, and I want you to show how that money has come out now.  There is no CDM spending in your rate application other than what you said before in "other" categories. 

MR. INNIS:  The CDM spending that you're referring to in 2005, 2006, 2007, that was associated with the third phase MARR funding, so that is specifically for funding that was associated with that initiative. 

So that's what that relates to.  Whereas going forward we fully spent that third phase amount of money and that is why that is no included in 2008. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  So is the answer to my question about identifying CDM in your line items for 2005, 2006 and 2007, is that it's not there? 

MR. INNIS:  No.  We did indeed spend our CDM in our spending associated with MARR.

MR. BUONAGURO:  What I'm trying to understand you would think between 2005, 2006 and 2007 when you're doing CDM versus 2008, there would be an identifiable drop in O&M related to the fact that you're not doing CDM funded through rates any more.  That's what we're trying to identify, if that money has actually come out or if it's still in there. 

MR. INNIS:  So those costs were not part of the application, in terms of the revenue requirement for those years.  So they wouldn't have to come out at this point in time. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay. 

MR. INNIS:  They were separately funded through the third phase MARR. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  So then the question about C1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 2, table 1, which talks -- I'm just saying we have already gone through that, but I asked you to identify where that CDM spending would be in those line items.  The answer seems to be it is not in there. 

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No.  That wasn't our answer. 

Our answer was that we do have a million dollars in 2008.  The programs that we just started under the third phase MARR, we found that many of these programs would have died and gone away unless we had put in some funding to keep these programs ongoing. 

Hydro One supports the CDM initiatives of the government and we think they're valuable.  Given that we thought they were valuable, we had to put some dollars in to ensure that we had resources to make sure that the activities that we undertook under the third phase MARR could continue and continue to bring the value that they are. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  But my question is:  Since you're not including money in rates any more, has the money comes out of your rate application?  I'm not disputing what you did in the past.  Your confirmation to some of the interrogatory responses is, yes, in 2007, for example, we included $17.8 million in program spending related to CDM.

Now, for a while there I thought what you were saying is, Oh, that wasn't in our O&M, it was separately funded, so therefore it is not in this application.  But now you're saying, yes, spending was included in our O&M related to CDM in previous years, 2005, 2006 and 2007 for various reasons which you just outlined to support the MARR spending. 

But still leaves open the question:  Has it come out?  That's all I am trying to figure out. 

MR. INNIS:  It is certainly the case that there is not specific funding for those CDM programs in 2008, that is not part of our revenue requirement. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. INNIS:  Other than the $1 million that we spoke of.

MR. BUONAGURO:  What I'm trying to understand though, is it the case that your 2008 O&M budget is, forgive the word, is it inflated by $17.8 million because the base figure that you escalated for 2008 included CDM spending that isn't there any more? 

MR. INNIS:  Absolutely not.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Or did it get reduced by 17.8 million or some figure like that depending on what the actual spending is and it has been built up from that? 

MR. INNIS:  No.  That is not the case.  Our 2008 work program is consisting of all of our sustaining development operations and programs which we discuss will be discussed in panel 2.  That will show the build up that supports the revenue requirement.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So if I will chat with panel 2 about it, they might be able to give me more specifics?


MR. INNIS:  Not in terms of CDM.  What I am saying, in terms of our 2008 revenue requirement, it is comprised of the work programs that you will hear about in panel 2, and they will be able to talk to the work.  And what I'm saying is they will not be speaking to the CDM work, because there is no specific CDM programs included in that in 2008.


MR. BUONAGURO:  My concern is that one of the things we often do is compare year over year your budgets.  I want to make sure that the 2005, 2006 and 2007 O&M budgets are comparable to 2008, given that those years included CDM and 2008 doesn't.  I'm not 100 percent sure, based on what you have told me, that the 2008 budget versus the 2005, 2006 and 2007 budgets are strictly comparable, i.e., that the 2005 to 2007 budgets have the CDM backed out.


MR. INNIS:  Just give me a moment, please.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. INNIS:  In terms of the prior period expenditure, the CDM spending would have been reflected as appropriate in our OM&A or capital spending, and that was drawn down from the third phase MARR, so that was not part of the revenue requirement at that time.  It was covered separately.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So then that goes back to, I guess, the first -- one of the first things I asked C1, tab 2, schedule 1, table -- page 2, table 1. 

Looking at the O&M budget, what I think you just said is that CDM spending isn't included in any of those figures?


MR. INNIS:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And so when Mr. Van Dusen was talking about supporting the MARR spending, that was completely done outside of rates or outside of these categories?


MR. INNIS:  Yes.  It was -- the CDM spending was funded from the third phase MARR, which was outside of the rates.  That was separately approved in a separate initiative even before our 2006 rate filing.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So I don't have to worry, when I compare your O&M spending for 2005, 2006 and 2007 to 2008 spending, that it is an unfair comparison, because the previous three years are inflated because of the CDM, because that spending isn't in there somewhere?


MR. INNIS:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I will leave it there.


Can I ask you about regulatory compliance costs?


MR. INNIS:  Sure.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Looking at H10-15, this talks about regulatory compliance costs.  I think a summary of this would be that most of your 2008 costs are associated with the 2008 distribution cost allocation rate design initiative?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's true.


MR. BUONAGURO:  The figure is $3.6 million.  So regulatory compliance costs went from $0.7 million in 2007 to 3.6 million in 2008, and most of that is cost allocation and rate design?


MR. FUKUZAWA:  Yes, that's true.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you explain what that project is and why the costs are so high?


MR. FUKUZAWA:  What that project is about is implementing the rates associated with the proposal within this hearing, and also the costs associated with the process of harmonizing rates in 2008.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Oh, okay.


So it is really the -- well, harmonization, which I guess is unique to Hydro One?


MR. FUKUZAWA:  Yes.  So it is what's being discussed in this hearing, what's being proposed in this hearing.  It's the implementation costs to get it into the customer system.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.


And one last area, staff resources allocated to regulatory matters, can I ask you about that?


MR. INNIS:  Go ahead.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Looking at H1-68.


MR. INNIS:  Yes.  Just a moment, please.  Yes, I have that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Specifically looking at line 7 on page 2, operating expenses associated with staff resources allocated to regulatory matters, it goes up from 6.8 million in 2007 to 8.1 million in 2008.  Is that based on the current rate application, the increase?


MR. INNIS:  I'm sorry, when you say "based on current rate application", you mean?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Maybe I should back up.  First of all, is this table total regulatory costs before they had been allocated between transmission and distribution?


MR. INNIS:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So you've got a total increase between of 6.8 million to 8.1 million in staff allocation regulatory matters.  My question is:  What's the driver behind that?  I am proposing to you, is one possibility that the driver is this distribution allocation -- sorry, this distribution application, 2008?


MR. INNIS:  Yes.  That would be one of the drivers, but the costs that are represented in this table represent the costs of the regulatory affairs group, and they are involved in a number of initiatives to support rate filings, as well as other proceedings before this Board.


So part of that would be this specific proceeding, but there is a number of other regulatory initiatives that they support, as well.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And can you identify in this chart where the allowance for intervenor funding would be?


MR. INNIS:  Just give me a moment, please.


I believe that would be involved in the line 7 or 8, as well, part of the general expense.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right, thank you.  Those are my questions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  We will take the lunch break at this point and come back in an hour -- an hour and 15.


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:25 p.m.


--- On resuming at 1:40 p.m.

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.

Mr. Innis, before we start with Mr. Shepherd, I just want to come back to the point that Mr. Buonaguro was asking you about.  This is this CDM issue.

I took the opportunity, over the luncheon break, to look at your audited financial statements, which you break out by distribution and transmission.  So my first question is, when you spend this -- how much did you spend?  You had what, $60 million in third tranche monies that were allowed by the Board?

MR. INNIS:  No.  There were $39 million.

MR. KAISER:  $39 million?  Is that all spent?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. KAISER:  Spent in what period?

MR. INNIS:  That was spent over a period of time, I believe --

MR. KAISER:  The order was in December of 2005 so you spent it 2006, 2007 and 2008.

MR. INNIS:  2005, and up to this year we finished so 2005 to 2008.

MR. KAISER:  So you finish off sometime in this year?

MR. INNIS:  That's correct.

MR. KAISER:  Then you had funding from the OPA in 2008 and 2007 too, I think?

MR. INNIS:  That's correct.

MR. KAISER:  In any event, my question is this.  You have told Mr. Buonaguro that these expenditures are not in what I'm going to call your regulatory statements.

Are they in your audited statements?  You spend money, as you have said you did, do they go into the audited statements?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. KAISER:  Where would I find those?  They would just be somewhere under O&M?

MR. INNIS:  They would be under O&M.  There is two aspects of CDM spending, there capital spending and O&M.   So the capital would be in the assets.  The O&M would be under OM&A expenditures.

MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Kaiser I wonder if I could interrupt.  I spoke to Mr. Buonaguro over the break, as a matter of fact, over lunch, because I was concerned about this area myself.  I was intending to give an undertaking to the Board to provide a written explanation of the treatment of CDM expenses in 2006 and 2007, how the MARR fit into that, and whether or not it was fair to compare the 2006, 2007, OM&A expenses with 2008.  It's a little more complicated than I appreciated so I was going to give that undertaking, if that helps you, sir.

MR. KAISER:  It does.  But maybe we could add to that, if you could give me the detail that you have just referred to in your audited distribution statements, i.e., the expenses relating to this aspect by the years.

I raise this because the only reference I could find -- and this is in your audited statements, the last one that you produced which I think was for 2007 -- you had a footnote under footnote 13 and it only popped up there because it was a related party transaction, but you say:

"Consistent with the OPA mandate, the OPA is responsible for some of the company's conservation demand management programs.  The funding includes program costs, incentives, management fees and bonuses.  In 2000, the company received $3 million; 2006, nil, from the OPA in respect to CDM programs.  It had a net account received of $3 million."

So you have $3 million, take it.  I take it you spent it.  You will tell us what you spent in 2006 per your audited statements, and what the source was, whether it was third tranche, whether it was OPA through the period starting in 2005, it sounds like, that's where the first third tranche spending was in 2005?

MR. INNIS:  Third tranche spending started in 2005.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  If we can just expand the undertaking, Mr. Rogers.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, of course.

MR. MILLAR:  That will be Undertaking J1.6 and that is as described by Mr. Rogers' initially and the additions by Mr. Kaiser.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.6:  to provide a written explanation of the treatment of CDM expenses in 2006 and 2007, how the MARR fit into that, and whether or not it was fair to compare the 2006, 2007 OM&A expenses with 2008; and give the detail just referred to in your audited distribution statements, i.e., the expenses relating to this aspect by the years

MR. ROGERS:  There was one other thing I was going to volunteer as well.

MR. KAISER:  All right.

MR. ROGERS:  Mr. DeRose, you may recall at the beginning this morning, was asking some questions about recalculating the revenue requirement using the 2nd generation incentive mechanism, the IRM.

I think I said that we'd deal with that in panel 2.  I am told that this panel really is a better panel to deal with that.  What I propose is -- I have spoken to my friend about this, that I would like to take an undertaking to file a calculation of that amount which we will file, as it were.

MR. MILLAR:  Undertaking J1.8; and that is to file the results of running the 2nd generation IRM model on the 2007 rates?  


MR. ROGERS:  2008.  I think the idea was to --

MR. MILLAR:  For the 2008.

MR. ROGERS:  The results would be for 2008 with what was applied for.

MR. MILLAR:  Using 2007 base year?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  This panel would be available if Mr. DeRose has any questions on that.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Rogers, with respect to the first issue of CDM, the record now and I am just reading what the Chair said, that this expenditures have not, in what I am going to call your regulatory statements.

So are you going to address that --

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. VLAHOS:  -- So the record will be clean on this?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. VLAHOS:  Whether it is one way or the other.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  Hopefully it will clarify the confusion this morning.

MR. VLAHOS:  All right.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.7:  to file the results of running the 2nd generation IRM model on the 2008 rates using a 2007 base year


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd.
Cross-examination by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I apologize to the panel.  I was not able to hear on the Internet this morning.  Apparently there is something wrong with the Board's website so I have tried to get a sense from my friends as to what was covered this morning, but I apologize if I duplicate anything.  I am trying not to.

I just have a few questions.  Let me start with, if you could turn up, witnesses, Exhibit H, tab 13, schedule 51.  That may not be in the package that you have for this panel, but tangentially relates.

MR. INNIS:  Yes, I have that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  This asks for your letters of disclosure and letters of representation for your 2007 year.  These are documents required for audit purposes and they're provided to your auditors.

The company, in response to this IR, has said that these are confidential documents and I understand that.  And my question is going to be this:  Can you advise or can you undertake to find out whether those letters of disclosure or letters of representation included within them any disclosures or representations with respect to material items in shared services or customer care?

Do you know the answer to that, first of all?

MR. INNIS:  Off the top of my head, no.  But we could check to see if they do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could undertake to just let us know whether there are any in there.  And then what I propose to do, Mr. Chairman -- because I don't want to ask for these if they're not necessary -- what I propose to do is once we find out what's in there, generally, then I will speak to Mr. Rogers off-line and see whether there are any documents that we would like to see.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  We will proceed on that basis.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Undertaking J1.8.  Mr. Shepherd could you repeat it, please, just to make sure I have it here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  This is whether the letters of disclosure or letters of representation for 2007 include any material disclosures or representations with respect to the subject matter of this panel, which is shared services and customer care.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.8:  to advise whether the letters of disclosure or letters of representation for 2007 include any material disclosures or representations with respect to the subject matter of this panel, which is shared services and customer care

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me then turn to Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 6.  I guess page 3 I will start with.

In is your prefiled shared services evidence.  I am looking at a blue page updated February 20th, 2008.  That's the current one; right?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Under the line "asset management" you see the chart, table 1.

MR. INNIS:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Under the line asset management from is a big jump from 2005 to 2006.  It doubles.  Then there is additional increases after that, but it doubles from 2005 to 2006 and there is a note at the bottom, that says, I am quoting:
"For the years 2004 and 2005, asset management costs were lower due to certain program costs including facilities and work scheduling being charged directly to work programs through standard labour rates."


Do you see that?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, I believe Mr. Van Dusen can address this.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you just give us an explanation as to what that means.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, certainly.  In the 2006 distribution hearing, my predecessor Mr. Carleton testified to this extensively.  But essentially, what was done in 2004 and 2005 is some of the facilities in real estate costs were incorporated directly into the rates that we charged the work programs and did not show up as a common cost.


For presentation purposes, we have noted that here, so what looks to be a disconnect between the 2005 and 2006 period is actually not a disconnect.  It is just where those costs were accounted for in that time period.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the standard labour rates you're talking about, will you tell me whether I am correct that these standard rates are found in Exhibit H, tab 13, schedule 26?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So here's what I didn't understand.  The direct asset management budget doubles, because, if I understand this correctly, you took some stuff out of the labour rates and put it into the direct budget; right?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then I'm looking at the labour rates and these labour rates are going up 70 percent, 48 percent, 44 percent.  On average, it looks like something in the order of 30 percent increase in charge-out rates, standard costing rates, over that same period, 2004 to 2008.


So why would that be going up, too, when asset management is going up separately?  You're taking stuff out.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, certainly.  First of all, when you take a look at the changes between 2004 and 2006, many of these rates actually go down or go up marginally over that period.  If I was to take you to page 2 of 6, the civil maintenance rate goes down from 99.50 to 87.  The electrical maintenance goes down from 103.50 to 97.  So not all of the rates increase over that period.


In addition, the standard costing rates are taken a look at each year, and, as was the decision we made in 2005 to take the facilities and real estate costs out of the labour rates and put them in direct costs, there were other costs that shifted the other direction.


So there are classification changes in what we include in the labour rates that have occurred through this entire period.


So some direct costs have come in.  Some direct costs have come out.  What we do is we take a look at it each year and take a look at:  What are the costs?  How can we best attribute the costs to the work?  In terms of doing that, we take a look at whether they should go through a labour rate or go through a direct cost rate.  Throughout the period of time, there have been many organizational changes or changes in approach to costing the work that has occurred.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  It is hard to track this through, so forgive me if I take a couple of minutes just to try to understand it.  From 2005 to 2006, you added $20 million to your asset management budget.


Now, that's for things that were in the labour rates and now are in asset management; right?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that $20 million, that's not the whole change in these labour rates.  These labour rates are charged to a lot of other things; right?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  These labour rates are charged across a variety of work programs and OM&A, capital and T&D, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the impact of changing what was included in the labour rates, it wasn't just that $20 million that is in asset management.  It is more than that; right?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know what the number is?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I don't have the details of the specifics -- specific change at hand.  The asset management change was one of the significant changes that year, one of the independent significant changes.  There were several other changes made over this period.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, so this is not the only year you have done this, moved stuff around?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.  We take a look at standard costing rates on an annual basis and take a look at what is the appropriate way of charging the T&D, OM&A and capital work programs.  Do the costs best get attributed correctly to the right program through a labour rate or by directly charging it, having it as a direct charge?


MR. SHEPHERD:  You do that every year?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  We take a look at that every year.  There are some years where obviously there is a significant change, as there was at the end of 2005 going into 2006, but we do take a look at these rates on an annual basis.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So does that mean -- am I right in assuming that you're reallocating between basically budget areas, between labour rates and direct budgets every year?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  There are -- to some extent there is reallocation between what is charged directly and what is charged through labour rates.


Most years it is very insignificant, if any at all.  It happened to be a very large amount from 2005 to 2006.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Were there other significant changes in your various line item budgets with this similar explanation over this -- we have this period 2004 to 2008 that we're looking at for comparative purposes.  I am trying to figure out, how comparative are these numbers?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  The numbers are extremely comparative.  I think we made the note in this application.  I think what we did in the previous distribution application is tried to put them on common footage, but, by doing that, we had to kind of recreate the past to show the way it would have been had we not done the charge-out.  So we did that for the Board to be helpful.


We showed it both ways, presented it in our evidence and in interrogatory responses.


To go to the second part of your question, the standard labour rates, generally what's included in the standard labour rates are the direct costs for obviously the workers to do the work, an electrical maintainer, and then there is the overhead costs in the lines of businesses, the non-common cost lines of businesses, engineering construction services, customer operation and grid operations.  So --


MR. SHEPHERD:  These are loaded costs?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, they are.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So, okay, this increase -- this decrease in how much was going to the standard costing rates from 2005 to 2006, do you know what the total was?  How much did you decrease the amount you were charging in the work rates and allocate elsewhere?  We know it was at least 20 million, because we see that in asset management.  What was the actual total?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I don't have it with me, but, once again, this was extensively witnessed in the 2006 hearing, but I could pull the number out.  I don't have it with me.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it possible for you to undertake to provide us with that?


MR. ROGERS:  Is that something that can be easily, relatively easily, gotten?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, we will undertake that.


MR. MILLAR:  Undertaking J1.9.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.9:  PROVIDE TOTAL OF DECREASE IN STANDARD COSTING RATES FROM 2005 TO 2006.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then the next -- the next follow-up to that is I'm trying to understand - and we're going to talk about them, I guess, some more in subsequent panels - these standard costing rates, which are going up a lot, and it appears to me that with this big reallocation, they're actually going up more, because you have moved some stuff out before you changed them; is that right?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  There's no question that the change that was made from 2005 to 2006 would have otherwise pushed the costs down, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It looks like from 2004 to 2006, as you correctly pointed out, on average they look like they're not going up very much from 2004 to 2006, and then from 2006 to 2008 they have this jump of like 25, 30, 40, in one case 70 percent.  No, that's wrong, but big.


So is it possible -- I guess my question is - there is a question here - is it possible for you to tell us, without this reallocation, what these rates would be?  Can you -- let me put it another way.


There is an amount out of each of these rates in 2006 representing that reallocation.  Can you tell us what that amount is, like, how much -- for example, electrical maintenance is $97 an hour.  How much would that be if you hadn't done that reallocation?  Can you do that?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I believe the undertaking I have taken already, in terms of providing the total dollars, will give you the total dollars.  Are you asking me to go back and regenerate every labour rate with -- assuming the change didn't happen?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I'm assuming that there was an allocation -- that you did a spreadsheet and there was an allocation in which you said, Okay, we're going to change that.  So you could just change it back on the spreadsheet; isn't that right?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's more complicated than that?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I think it is more complicated than that.  I'm just not too sure what the additional information is.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I guess it may be an issue in this hearing if you have substantially increased your standard costing rates, and if the increase is actually more than appears from the evidence you have provided because of a reallocation, then it may be relevant for the Board to know that.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Certainly there are many other changes that have occurred, that change of the standard costing labour rates.


Hydro One is a heavily unionized environment.  To the extent that the salary increases approved through collective bargaining process change, the rates will change.  So there are several factors that would lead to a general cost increase across the Board in all of the areas that would impact the standard labour rates, as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  I guess -- I understand there are all of these influences, but you know when you're increasing the rate for a student by more than 40 percent, I mean, I like students and all of that, but, you know, that's a big increase.

Or hiring hall labourers by 45 percent over four years?  These seem like big increases, and we're going to ask for explanations, but if these increases are understated, we need to know that first.

What can you do to help us with that?

MR. KAISER:  Can you restate the requested undertaking.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am requesting is that they tell us what these 2008 -- these 2008 standard costing rates would be, if they had not done the major reallocation in 2006.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you, I understand.  Is that possible?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's a major undertaking, Mr. Chairman, to be honest.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it possible to estimate?

MR. ROGERS:  Let me take it under advisement, if we could.  We do have a panel coming up to deal directly with labour costs.  It may not be them that answers this.  I am just not sure what's involved in doing this on a line-by-line basis.  We're talking about the year 2006, which was the base year that was examined in detail in the last case, and rates that came out of that case.

MR. KAISER:  I take it, Mr. Shepherd, the point is that the reallocation affected some more than others?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am assuming that, but it may not be true.  It may be that they're the same across the board.  See we have no way of knowing whether this 20 million is a 1 percent difference or a 20 percent difference.  I have no way of knowing that unless they -- you can even just estimate the 2008 numbers without that adjustment.  That would still help.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The global number doesn't give you the information you need?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  Because this global number still doesn't tell us how much is charged in these so we know what sort of percentage that makes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is that level of granularity necessary for the point you want to make?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  Clearly if the company said these 2008 rates would go up on average by 4 percent, if we hadn't done that reallocation, that would help.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  As I understood the witness, what the witness was suggesting could be done would be to reflect the 2006-2008 comparison, sort of without the reallocation on a global number basis.

So you take a sort of global number that would be the unallocated or unreallocated number so that you would know -- you could make that comparison.  My question to you is, do you really need that further layer of granularity to find out what the specific hiring hall rates were?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  In fact, as long as the global number is both a dollar figure and a percentage, that answers most of the question.  I mean obviously if there are particular areas in which the impact is huge, then that may be relevant to the Board.  But generally speaking, I don't think that the line items matter.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  With that additional qualifier, is that undertaking manageable for the witness?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes I think so is it not.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That additional qualifier is if there is known to you or jumps out to you some special category of reallocation that was particularly note worthy, you will make note of that in the undertaking.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  That's fine.

MR. MILLAR:  This will still form part of J1.9.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, that's good.

Now, let me go on to -- bear with me, to the overall budget for asset management.

We looked at the distribution component here, all right, this 46.3 million in C1, tab 2, schedule 6, page 3.  And 46.3 million in the test year.

But I am now looking at Exhibit H, tab 13, schedule 20, which is a comparison of the budgets in your transmission application and your distribution application.

Do you see that?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Just one second, please, we're turning it up.

MR. SHEPHERD:  While you are at it, you might want to look at H11-19, and H1-85, as well.  It was a popular topic.

MR. INNIS:  Can you repeat the last reference, please?

MR. SHEPHERD:  H11-19.  And H1-85.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I have those.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So just starting with H13-20.  As I understand this, in your transmission application, you asked for -- on the asset management line, you asked for $96.4 million of which $57.3 was being allocated to transmission.  So presumably 39.1 was being allocated to distribution; right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's for the 2008 year.  Right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So now, about 11 months later, you filed an application saying, no, no, no, no, now we'd like another $22.5 million, thanks very much, and the distribution allocation is going to go up by $7.2 million.  Is that right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Without my characterization, of course.

And so what you said in the interrogatory response is, look to H11-19 for an explanation of this.  So we went to H11-19, and it said, basically it looks like you're saying that a big chunk of this is for Cornerstone.  Is that right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I wouldn't characterize it as a big chunk.  Certainly it was one of the explanations that was provided, but I certainly wouldn't characterize it as a big chunk.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  You've said $17.8 million, which I take it is basically the system investment and business integration and some other stuff.  Is that right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  The large amount of the increase of 17.8 million between the applications was increasing costs in the system investment and business integration primarily.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So let's just deal with system investment, $10.3 million, 11-month increase.  Is that a cost overrun for something?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, it is not a cost overrun.  Let me explain.

The applications, as you correctly noted, were 11 months apart.  However, in terms of the planning cycle, there was a longer period of time between when we put together the transmission application, because once again it was a two-year application, remember; it was in 2007-2008 application which was put together in 2006.  So there was a longer period of time in between applications.

During that period of time, assumptions changed.  We gathered new information about the work environment and certainly we identified much more work that was required in the system investment and business integration areas.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Now, just before I leave that.  That $10.3 million, is that Cornerstone?  Or is that a bunch of things?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry, the system investment area is not an IT area.  The system investment is in the asset management function, to summarize at a high level.  System investment function is basically to plan, design and release the core transmission and distribution work program to the lines of businesses to estimate schedule and then execute.

So to the extent that the core work program increases dramatically, which it did over this period, the number of engineers and planners required to do a detailed plan of that core work program needs to go up as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what you're saying, is the sustaining and development OM&A and capital spending plans went up dramatically, and that, this stuff piggybacks on top of that, in effect?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  And it is not just a matter of what was the plan for 2008 between the two times.  Once again, the system investment function is looking out doing the business plan over the five- to ten-year horizon.  So to the extent that the evolving government direction on distribution generation, the evolving IPSP and the evolving government direction on its energy policy has changed over the last year and a half, this area plus business integration needs to come to terms with that and to respond to the ever-growing needs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Don't lose those three IRs.  I just want to -- what you said there raises something else, and that is, if I can find it, can you go to -- please, to -- just give me a second.


H13-24.  Don't lose the other ones, because I will come right back to them.  But H13-24 asks you for your five- to ten-year investment plan, which is the reason why you're spending all of this money this year.


You said, no, sorry, can't give it to you.  So I am going to ask you again.  If that's the reason why you're spending all of the money, can we see the plan, please?


MR. ROGERS:  Can we just take a minute to look at the interrogatory?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  In response to your question, the details of what is required in the electricity system, consistent with the government's energy policy direction, is very commonly known.  It's contained in all of the draft IPSP material. 

The huge expansion on the distribution system, the smart meter initiatives, the CDM initiatives are well known, and there is many publications that are available, that are available to Hydro One, that allow us to understand what's in front of us, to need to plan to have a prudent, safe and reliable system in place in the future.


I guess, in response to your question, there is an immense amount of information that supports the contention that there is a lot going on in the industry sector over the next five to ten years.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  But, I'm sorry, that is not what I asked.  What I asked is you talked about having to do this plan, five- to ten-year plan, in order to -- because you're rapidly expanding your spending in certain areas, sustaining and development, in fact.


So either you have a plan or you don't.  If you do have a plan, I think it is fair the Board see it, since that's what you're spending your money on.


MR. ROGERS:  Well, the answer to the interrogatory -- I object to this.  The answer to the interrogatory is that the application is for 2008 rates, and the company has filed extensive information in is support of those 2008 rates.  They are not applying for anything beyond that at the moment.


Therefore, if they have a plan or not, it's not relevant.


MR. KAISER:  Why do you need this, Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, because I don't think there is a plan.  I think the explanation they have given, We had to do this big plan, I think they don't in fact have a plan.


MR. KAISER:  Let's suppose there isn't a plan.  What's the consequence of that?


MR. SHEPHERD:  We would be taking the position that then you haven't given us an explanation for the substantial increase in these expenses, because the explanation you gave us turns out not to be correct.


MR. KAISER:  How does the plan or lack of a plan relate to the 2008 expenses?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, as the witness just confirmed - and that was what I was trying to get him to say - the reason they're spending so much more in this area, asset management -- and this is a change in their budget in 11 months.  They have added 20 percent, $22 million, and the primary reason for that is because they had this expanded work program. 

And my question is:  Why?  Is there a plan for that expanded work program?  Because it is not just this $22 million, of course.  That $22 million is the infrastructure behind it.  So that means that in sustaining and development, there is also a whole lot of additional --


MR. KAISER:  Let me understand.  If they confirm one way or another there is a plan, are you happy with that?


MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  Then we would like to see it, to see why is it you're spending all of this additional money in 2008.


MR. KAISER:  Can you help us, Mr. Rogers?


MR. ROGERS:  Just give me a moment.


Well, I don't want to drag this out too long.  First of all, I understand we're talking about total asset management, which includes a lot of transmission costs. 

I don't know whether the plan is that there is a completed plan yet, or not.  Obviously the company has given a good deal of thought to this, but whether you can say that there is a plan available now, I don't know.  I will have to inquire about that, but I do object to producing it, in any event, because we're dealing with 2008 rates, and we will live or die on the information we file in support of those rates, which is extensive.  But I am prepared to support our application based on the evidence before the Board.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  It's his application, Mr. Shepherd.  You have heard him.  He doesn't think it is necessary to support the 2008 numbers.  Your position is that he won't be able to support the increases in these asset management costs without demonstration that there is a plan, but what might be a first step, without spending a lot more time on this, is to find out if there even is a plan.  If there is not a plan, then we can dispense with this very quickly.


MR. ROGERS:  Let me just take some advice, Mr. Kaiser.  Thank you.  I will advise the Board and my friend whether there is a plan or what the general status of the plan is.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This asset management increase, the $22.5 million, between the budget you filed for your transmission application and the budget you filed for your distribution application for the same year, what does that mean in terms of overall increase? 

If that 22.5 million is an increase in the management component of it, what's the overall increase associated with that activity that you are talking about, that - what do you call it - additional efforts and activities to support the effective delivery of asset management activities?  Is that just looking at your OM&A budget and see how much it increases, or is there a ratio that we can use?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, there is no specific or arbitrary ratio that is used.


Hydro One's planning process is built around planning the key activities that needed to be -- that need to be undertaken to support our core strategic mission and our core mission.  We take a look at the work program that needs to be delivered to move forward in terms of safety, reliability and customer service. 

To support the work programs that are required -- many of them related to government direction, smart meters being one of them -- we need to have in place the infrastructure to support the development, the planning, the engineering around those activities. 

The size of the asset management functions, in business integration and system investment, in particular, are sized appropriately to be able to deliver the type of information which is required to undertake those work programs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you do some additional formal studies or analysis between September 2006 and August 2007 that led you to the conclusion that you had to have a substantial increase in your work program?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I'm not quite sure what you mean, sir, with respect to a specific study.


However, it certainly was a very detailed business planning process and a very detailed challenge by the senior management team with respect to the overall level of changes in asset management costs.


Let me give you an example of something that has changed over the recent time period, which has directly led to the increase in asset management costs, which is very difficult to deal with.


This has to do with distributed generation.  In 2005, we had approximately five people doing about 30-plus applications for distributed generation.  We now have had to move up to over 20 people in that function trying to process approximately 800 of those applications.


So here is a direct cost increase, much of which we have seen the increase over the last year and a half, in an asset management activity to respond to a government direction that Hydro One is happy to contribute to.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, in H1-85 on the second page, you note that you've got an increase from 20 to 30 applications per year, to 1800 for generation connection.  Is that what you're talking about?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I am.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  I understand that.  How much is that impact?  The DG impact?  How much of that $22.5 million is DG?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Just one second, please.

Sorry.  I just have it in terms of changes in staff that are required to support the function.  The change is roughly 25 FTEs.  So if you were to do some simple costing, and standard costing rates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Two million dollars?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Approximately $2-, $3 million, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When you filed your 2006 transmission application, you didn't, of course, have any idea that you would have to have that many staff?  It wasn't in your budget at all?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, that's not correct.  I think what we were -- what we have found is the extent to which the external community would take advantage of the opportunities which had been presented themselves by the standard offer program.

I guess to the extent that it was greater than we anticipated back in the transmission application, we would have to say yes, we were caught a little bit off guard in that respect.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I am looking at-H1-85, the first page of that.  It has a number of explanations as to why your 2008 budget changed over that 11-month period.  One of them is, if you see there is several bullets here, right.

I just have a couple of questions on them.  One is, the first bullet talks about the need for more asset management experts.  I take it that's what you were talking about earlier, that if you have an expanded work plan, you need more managers, planners.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  You need more planners, certainly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then the next one is increased regulatory work.  And I guess I am a little bit surprised at that, because I can't think of what happened between September 2006 and August 2007 that would make you think that your regulatory calendar would be busier.  Can you tell us what that would be?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, certainly.

The regulatory calendar should not be constrained to this Board and the proceedings before this Board.  Indicated here are the proceedings in front of the Environmental Assessment Board for the multitude of section 92s going on in the transmission side of the business.  In addition, increased standards from NERC and NPCC have required us to respond in terms of planning and development of additional security measures and additional compliance measures.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In September 2006, you knew all of those things; right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No.  The standards have evolved continuously over this period, in particular the cyber-security measures have evolved incredibly over the last year in terms of now what is required from transmitters and distributors.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The bullet further on talks about succession planning and demographics planning.  This is the aging workforce problem, I take it?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And have you included somewhere in your application -- I have looked, but there's lots of stuff and maybe I missed it.  Have you included some demographic information to help us to understand how this specifically affects you?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I am not 100 percent sure, but hopefully by the time I get to panel 3 and I am joined by Ms. McKellar, she will be able to more correctly point that out.  We may have it.  She would be the expert and I am supporting her in panel 3, so...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Here is what I am going to ask.  I know this is mainly for panel 3, but since work involved in it, the planning part of it is here, I figure it is fair game here.

In the recent Horizon application, we had -- I am not going to tell you the details because it was confidential documents -- but we had some very detailed, item by item, like work area by work area demographics to show where the problems were going to arise.

You presumably have done that stuff?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Certainly, sorry, yes, I just wasn't sure if we had any summary tables.  Certainly I am aware in asset management the demographic situation very specifically, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So if you haven't filed those detailed demographics, the one that show your demographics for engineers for example and things like that which are the ones on which you make planning decisions presumably, can you undertake to file those?  Assuming you have them.  If you don't have them, obviously you don't have them.

MR. ROGERS:  The fact this was filed on a confidential basis in this other case, leads me to think that may be required here, as well, if we do decide to do it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If may be, I don't know.  It was parts of another document that was -- there was a loft other confidential things in it.  But you're right it could be confidential.

MR. ROGERS:  May I suggest, Mr. Chair, we take this under advisement and I will let the Board know tomorrow as to our position.  We have another panel, panel 3, that can deal with it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason I am asking for it now is to prepare for panel 3.  I wonder if I could have an undertaking number for it.

MR. KAISER:  Can we have an undertaking.  It will be subject to Mr. Rogers making any claims of confidentiality, if he decides that is necessary.

MR. MILLAR:  J1.10.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.10: to file detailed demographics, the one that show demographics for engineers, for example, on which planning decisions are made

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then the last of the bullets here on this H1-85 relates to the Cornerstone project.

You have said that one of your cost increases is because you had people working on Cornerstone.  Is that right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not actual project costs; right?  The project costs are separate.  They're not in this line item, presumably.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I am looking at the investment justification for Cornerstone.  Sadly, I can't figure out what the exhibit number is.  It is August 2007 Hydro One Networks investment justification, Cornerstone phase 1.  Do you know the document I am talking about?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Just one second, please.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It doesn't have an exhibit number on it, but I know it is one of yours.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  Sorry about that.  The exhibit number is Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 2.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

And so you see at the bottom of this, there's a chart that shows the capital costs and OM&A costs, that line says OM&A and removals.  I assume removals is a small component of that.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I believe so.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So these OM&A costs are these the ones you are referring to in asset management, the 4 million and 7 million and 6 million in 2008?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, they're not.  Let me explain.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  The costs which are showing up in 2008 in the asset management area are basically two-fold.

As Cornerstone -- as the Cornerstone project comes into service, there is the, then, production operation of Cornerstone, the feeding and carrying of the system once it is in service, to the extent that the asset management organization needed additional staff to ensure that the information was correctly input into the Cornerstone SAP product, there are some additional costs included in the 2008 dollars.

In addition, to ensure that the Cornerstone projects, all of the phases are successful, lines of businesses were asked to contribute some of the best and brightest people to the Cornerstone project.  So those people are to the Cornerstone project, those costs are being charged to the Cornerstone project and according to GAAP, and are in the costs that you see there.

However, there were some backfill costs that I had to incur, in asset management people needed to incur, to carry on some of the functions for the people who had gone over.  So there is some amount of backfill.  Not significant.  And then some amount of production-related costs that are in the asset management area.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't understand why there would be backfill.  If you're having costs taken out of your cost structure in asset management because they're being allocated to the project, then the backfill is just bringing you back to zero, isn't it?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  It unfortunately wasn't as simple as that.  Some of the costs had to be increased in the area, because we lost a lot of people to the Cornerstone project from the asset management area to support it, to appropriately support it.  And in some areas, I had to increase the amount of backfill.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Do you know what this, this reference to the cost increases and asset management related to Cornerstone, do you know how much that total is, what the Cornerstone impact was on your costs, on this budget?  I'm not talking about the 6 million now in the project, I'm talking about in your budget.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Right, in my budget.  I don't have the information directly with me, but I believe it is under $1 million.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's under a million?


And, presumably, in any case, that isn't something that changed between September 2006 and August 2007.  You already knew about the Cornerstone project and you had, in fact, had it in your budget already when you did your transmission application; right?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  You're correct in saying that the Cornerstone project is not new to us and that we witnessed the Cornerstone project.  My colleague, Mr. Struthers, witnessed it in the transmission application.


But in terms of the level of detail that we have -- we have understood through the discovery phases of the Cornerstone, the different Cornerstone phases, we have come to have a much better understanding of the costs of the operation of the system and the requirement to have core good staff support the project itself.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I just have a couple of more questions still on H13-21.  Remember the one I said, Don't lose it.  That's that one.


On page 3, there's another comparative chart which has -- what I am interested in here is the customer care numbers.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I'm sorry.  Your reference again was to?


MR. SHEPHERD:  H13-21, page 3.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, we have that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I guess what I'm trying to understand is your 2006 distribution -- your last distribution -- sorry.


Maybe I better ask you to explain this.  In this column that says "distribution application EB-2007-0681" - that this is this application - you're saying your actual 2007 costs for customer care were 97.1 million; right?


MR. FUKUZAWA:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But your transmission application, which was filed late in 2006, forecast 106.9; is that right?


MR. FUKUZAWA:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And very little of that is transmission; right?  This is almost all distribution; correct?


MR. FUKUZAWA:  That's correct.  There is a small portion that is transmission.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So tell us why your actuals were almost $10 million lower?  This is customer care.  This should be very predictable.


MR. FUKUZAWA:  In the body of the text, I think if you refer to line 6, 7, 8, 9, it does give a couple of explanations.  I think the largest variance ties back to a reduction in meter reading costs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. FUKUZAWA:  What that was about was is that what happened that year is that we ended up using a lot of hiring hall staff to do manual meter reading, and the meter readers that would typically do that work were transferred over to the smart metering project.  So the costs that came in for meter reading were quite a bit lower than expected.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So your normal meter readers are more expensive than your hiring hall guys; right?


MR. FUKUZAWA:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the expensive ones were doing the smart meters, and the less expensive ones were doing your regular day-to-day meter reading?


MR. FUKUZAWA:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  So then in 2008, you're assuming that your budget for customer care is going to jump by $6.7 million from your 2007 actuals.


Do I take it that that's -- the reason for that is the converse; that is, now your smart meter -- your expensive people aren't doing smart meters anymore?  They're going to go back to reading meters?


MR. FUKUZAWA:  No.  I think if you refer to Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 5, on page 4 of 13.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I've got it.


MR. FUKUZAWA:  There's a line item there in table 2, second line item, which provides the meter reading costs.  You can see that in 2008 over 2007, the meter reading costs don't increase.  They go from 19.9 million to 19.6 million.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the reason for that is because you started working on smart meters?


MR. FUKUZAWA:  Exactly.  So the usage of the hiring hall labour would still be carried forward into 2008.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then the reason for the big jump in customer care costs is found in these other lines.  The management function is going up 15 percent in one year?


MR. FUKUZAWA:  Yes.  Yes, there's -- if you refer to table 1 as an example, on page 3 in the same exhibit, our regulatory compliance cost is going up from 0.7 million in 2007 to 3.6 million in 2008.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that's 2.9 million there of your 6.7?


MR. FUKUZAWA:  Yes.  As you were saying before, the rest of the cost increases are spread across different line items.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So this was a little bit of a surprise, because I guess you don't have a substantial increase in customers; right?


MR. FUKUZAWA:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then it's hard to understand why, in one year, these costs would increase so substantially, and management, it's an increase that starts in 2004 at 2.9 million and by 2008 you're up to 7.2 million.


Why would that be?


MR. FUKUZAWA:  Yes.  We did have an interrogatory question on that particular line item.  If you refer to H1-66 --


MR. SHEPHERD:  H1-66.  So if I understand you, what this is saying is that customer care management used to be -- in 2006, it was 70 percent allocated to distribution and 30 percent to transmission, and now it's 96 percent and 4 percent; is that right?


MR. FUKUZAWA:  That's true.  So what we had referred to in this interrogatory response, that half of the growth between the years 2006 to 2008, 1.6 of the 3.1 was due to that change in the allocation rate.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And the change was -- the change in allocation was what?


MR. FUKUZAWA:  The change in the allocation ties back to what was discussed this morning.  There are time allocation studies performed.  So in the customer care group, for a period of time, we would do a study, a time study, and that time study would dictate what proportions get dictated to distribution versus what proportions get dictated to transmission.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So nothing changed in your work.  You just measured it more carefully and found that the old number was wrong?


MR. FUKUZAWA:  Well, I wouldn't say that.


I would say that the work program was reflected -- the change in work programming, meaning more work being distribution related, was reflected in the work program, which was reflected in the time study, which found its way into the cost allocation ratios.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Is there anything else that would explain that increase from 2.9 to 7.2, because you have only explained 1.6 there out of 4.5?


MR. FUKUZAWA:  Yes.  What we had said at the -- from lines 28 to lines 30 on the same interrogatory was the rest -- something that ties back to labour escalation.  We did have some modest increases in staff size, like one or two, and minor increases in third party contracts, consulting fees and that sort of thing.  And that is an explanation between 2006 and 2008.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Just a couple of other little clean-up things here.


Let me start with this shared services category.  Does this include the people that oversee and manage overall staffing levels within the organization?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, it would.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So let me just -- is there a group that does that?  That looks at what the appropriate FTEs are and how they're allocated within the organization, that sort thing?

MR. INNIS:  When I said yes it would, I was referring to the human resources group that's in the common shared services.  They would be responsible for looking at staffing plans in conjunction with the lines of business.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So they're in this budget, although compensation is actually in panel 3.  Their costs, the HR costs are here?

MR. INNIS:  The costs for the compensation of the human resources group is -- are in these shared services, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Where do I ask questions about what they do?  Here or in panel 3?


MR. INNIS:  In terms of what human resources function does?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. INNIS:  I can respond to some of those and then also to the extent there's more detailed information available, panel 3 can do that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am looking at H13, schedule 31.

MR. INNIS:  Just a moment, please.  H13-31.  If you want to get into details of that, I believe it would be best on panel 3.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that.  I am going to ask you sort of a planning-level question, and then perhaps in panel 3 we will talk about some more of the details.  Attachment A here talks about -- it has a column called total number of employees.

Each of those, it goes from 2004 to 2008, but 2008 is not filled in.  And each of those sections has a total regular, and then an overall total.

From 2004 to 2008, you've got an increase of almost 500 employees.  It's a 12.3 percent increase -- sorry, 2004 to 2007.  So my first question is, do you have a current forecast of the total number of regular employees for 2008?  Because that's left blank here.

MR. INNIS:  Give us a moment.  We will try to find the information but as I look at this schedule, most of these questions and this information is really panel 3 subject matter.

MR. ROGERS:  We can do that, but if you can answer that one question, that would be helpful.  If you can't, that's fine.

MR. INNIS:  I do not have that information with me.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, I guess what I'm going to ask you to do -- I understand this is mostly panel 3 but I do have a panel 1 question about this, but I wonder if you can undertake to provide -- I assume you have this by now  -- the forecast information for 2008 for these categories.

Now, I understand that you don't have actuals yet, because it's only July.  But you have totals in each case so I presume that you have breakdowns, forecast breakdowns total regular, et cetera, and dollar figures now in the forecast.  Is that right?

MR. INNIS:  This particular schedule is outside of my area of responsibility.  I could check that for you.

MR. ROGERS:  Let's --

MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason I am asking for the undertaking now is because obviously we will need it for cross-examining panel 3.  So if you could undertake to provide it, or at least find out whether it can be provided.

MR. ROGERS:  I think there is a problem with it.  If I recall from past cases the way the accounting is done, tell me again -- I would ask my friend to tell me again what he wants I will inquire and let him know.

MR. SHEPHERD:  To the extent possible I would like you to fill in the 2008 part of this chart.  Some of it obviously you will know, and if there are things you don't know, that's fine.  But to the extent that you can fill it in --

MR. ROGERS:  May I take it under advisement?  Just because I don't know what can and can't be done.  I don't like to give an undertaking until I --I am better informed.

MR. KAISER:  Let's give it a number just as a place holder.

MR. ROGERS:  That's fine.

MR. MILLAR:  J1.11.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.11:  TO provide the forecast information for 2008 for these categories in EXHIBIT H13, schedule 31

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the question I have for you, then, is:  Do you have some people whose job is to manage this increase in personnel, to try to keep a lid on, as it were.  Is there a group of people who do that?

MR. INNIS:  The human resources function is responsible overall, for corporate staffing.  So that would be part of their area of responsibility.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't have a particular unit or a group or anybody whose job is to plan how to manage FTEs and keep them within a reasonable level?

MR. INNIS:  I believe that would be part of many people's jobs in terms of their local managers, looking at their staff count as part of their annual budget process.  So that is managed throughout the corporation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, in the 2006 distribution decision, I think -- I am doing this from memory so tell me if I'm wrong -- I think the Board said that they were concerned about your personnel costs and thought that you should have a plan to deal with them.  Am I stating that right?  I don't have the reference offhand.

MR. ROGERS:  No, no.  It's close.  The Board expressed concern about the level of costs in this area in 2006 and also in the transmission case.  I think it asked the company to do some benchmarking work to come back, which the company did in the transmission.  There is some evidence in this distribution case on this, and there would be more detailed evidence in the next transmission case on this point.  So it is certainly an area of concern that the Board expressed very clearly to the company.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The reason why I raise that is because I want to know whether the company has created a unit or task force or committee or steering committee or something like that to address that issue.

MR. INNIS:  Yes.  And it is part of the annual business planning process.  We don't just look at dollars but we also look at staff, and staff is assessed through that annual process.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that would be part of the -- this shared services group, the head office, corporate services people, there's a group within them that are charged with that responsibility?

MR. INNIS:  Not necessarily.  That staff, the budget process I was referring to is done by line managers and then in aggregate there is a corporate level staff review.  But the detailed staffing is done at the -- as part of the budget process within the lines of business.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I wonder if you could -- we're finished with that interrogatory now.  I wonder if you could turn to H13-28.  I don't know if there is for you, but I couldn't find the evidence reference anywhere in the list of evidence that was assigned to particular panels so I am guessing that affiliate services is you guys.  Is that right?

MR. INNIS:  I can respond to affiliate services questions, but I don't have that interrogatory right now.  H13-28?

MR. SHEPHERD:  H13-28.

MR. INNIS:  Just give us a moment, please.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. INNIS:  I have the interrogatory.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So this talks about an increase -- your affiliate provides you with some telecom services; right?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the increase -- the fees are increasing from 6.4 million to 9 million from 2006 to 2008.


You have said that the reason for this is some labour and pension adjustments?


MR. INNIS:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you give us a little bit more explanation of that?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, just give me a moment, please.


These were costs that were incurred by our telecom group, and previously they had not charged those out to affiliates.  They absorbed those costs.  So essentially costs were understated in previous years and absorbed by telecom.  As part of this budget process, they looked at their costing and realized that should be charged out to people receiving value for the service.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why didn't they charge them to you before?


MR. INNIS:  I believe that that was something that they were not aware of that needed to be put into their total costing.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The services you get from Hydro One telecom, they're billed to you on a cost pass-through basis; right?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  None of it is at market rates?


MR. INNIS:  No.  It is cost-based.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Have you compared it to market?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Perhaps I can answer that.  We do or have done, on the contract, an annual review.


We talked about it I think in the last rate filing and we filed the material, Shpigler, and I believe that we felt at the time that that review was an indication as to whether we were receiving services at fair market value.


Because of the nature of the contract, which is a two-year structure, it would have been filed with the transmission rate filing.  So it would have covered the 2007/2008 years.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You haven't gone out to the marketplace to see what other people would provide this to you at, have you?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I'm going refer back again to the Shpigler report.  The Shpigler report looked specifically at telco utility, and telco utilities are fairly unique in the fact that if you look at the actual services being provided by Hydro One telecom, it's both to the power system, as well as to the normal business administration system.  So it is telco attached to the entire business.


So Shpigler did look at telco utilities specific to Hydro Quebec and also Manitoba Hydro, looking at whether those services and whether services we were receiving were of value, at fair market value.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  Thank you for that, but I guess my question is a different one.


Have you gone to the marketplace to see whether somebody else, not an affiliate, can give you these services cheaper?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Again, I will refer back to the Shpigler report, which we believe demonstrates that we are receiving services at fair market value.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's a simple question.  Either you have gone to competitive bidding or you haven't.


MR. STRUTHERS:  The answer is, no, we have not.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  My last question is -- and this is just something that is confusing me.  I take it that A2-2-2 is your responsibility?  This is the financial summary.


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So on page 6 of that, there's a reference to the variances between actual and Board approved for 2006.


We have asked an interrogatory on that, H13-42, and this, H13-42, asks basically:  Why did your gross plant go up about the same amount as your accumulated depreciation went up?  It doesn't make sense.


And your answer is that you had lower than forecast asset retirements.  Can you just help us understand this answer?  Can you give us an explanation as to what happened here, because it looks like you had something approved effective January 2006 that you didn't actually implement until January of 2007, and there was an impact of that; is that right?


MR. INNIS:  We did indeed implement that January 1, 2007.  The impact is minimal.


What we show in the exhibit is the -- this refers to the implementation of the depreciation study.  And so what happens, that was implemented on January 1, 2007, and so that resulted in an adjustment to the gross book value and the net book value.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That was actually approved for implementation for 2006; right?


MR. INNIS:  That is correct.  It was approved as part of the 2006 distribution rates filing.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you delayed it one year?


MR. INNIS:  No, it wasn't delayed.  It was implemented on January 1, 2007.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, sorry, this said it was approved for implementation January 2006, and it was implemented January 2007.  Am I misunderstanding that?


MR. INNIS:  No.  What I'm saying is that the depreciation study was implemented January 1, 2007, and that is to be consistent with implementing it for both transmission and distribution at the same time, rather than doing it partially for distribution, and then also for transmission.


The common asset components of that required us to implement at the same time.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's very logical, but I guess what I'm trying to understand is whether -- the Board approved it and approved your 2006 rates on the assumption that you would implement in 2006; right?


MR. INNIS:  It was approved in 2006; correct?


MR. SHEPHERD:  So were your 2006 rates based on the assumption that it would be implemented in 2006?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So what is the dollar impact of deferring it to 2007?  I understand the logic behind why you had to do it, a good idea to do it.  But presumably it impacted your actual costs structure in 2006?


MR. INNIS:  Very minimally.  The difference between the accumulated depreciation and the asset cost was negligible, and that's about $4 million.  And that would have been a rate base impact of $4 million, which, roughly speaking, on revenue requirement, would be less than half a million dollars.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, this question is asking about $125 million, so I don't understand why you're talking about $4 million.


MR. INNIS:  Yes.  There are two components to the adjustment.  There is an adjustment to the gross book value and the net book value.


So when you implement the study, you adjust the gross book value and the net book value, so the difference between the two is the 4 million.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it possible for you to tell us, with -- you don't have to do a particularly detailed calculation, but just give us a bigger than a bread box type of number as to what the impact on the 2008 revenue requirement is of delaying this from 2006 to 2007.


MR. INNIS:  As I mentioned, it would be less than $1 million.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Less than $1 million?


MR. INNIS:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Those are all of my questions.  Thank you for your patience.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  We will take the afternoon break and come back in 15 minutes.


--- Recess taken at 3:03 p.m.


--- On resuming at 3:20 p.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.

Mr. Millar.
Cross-examination by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Chair, Members of the Panel.  Before I start, I assume there is nobody else.  I canvassed the room this morning, but I don't see anyone else who had any questions so I am safe to go?  Okay.

Thank you.  Good afternoon, panel my name is Michael Millar I am counsel for Board Staff.  Ms. Cochrane and I have split up the cross so I am going to be dealing with the first section, which I think relates to issues 3.3 and 3.4.

My friends have covered many of the questions I had intended to ask, so I won't be very long and then I will pass it over to Ms. Cochrane.

Perhaps I could start by asking you to turn to Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 6.  This is the document we have been referring to a fair amount today.

At page 3 of that you see table 1, which people have taken you to before.  I was going to take you through many of these items, but again much of it has been covered.  Maybe we could start by, for the total costs you see the 2006 costs are 21.2 million and then for the test year, 2008 we have 66.9 million; is that correct?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And obviously those costs have tripled over the last two years.  Am I right with my math?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

If we could move down to the common corporate functions and services.  Here we have a difference of about 7.3 million from 2006; is that right?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And that's about 22 percent, again, if my math is right?  Subject to check?

MR. INNIS:  Yes.  Subject to check.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  A number of intervenors asked some questions about these, including Board Staff.  So maybe I could ask you to turn to Board Staff 84, which is Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 84.

This is where you were asked if there were any changes in the allocation percentages and the response you gave is that there has been a shift of three percentage points in the allocation percentage to distribution, due to refreshes of time studies, updates to specific cost drivers such as number of work stations and telephones, and an update of actual financial results.  Do you see that?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  In fact, I think you were speaking about this a little bit earlier with Mr. Shepherd and perhaps others talking about the refresh of the time studies.  Is that the type of thing you were talking about?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  A question that I don't think was asked.  Of the total increase of 7.3 million, can you give me an idea of what proportion of that is attributable to the 3 percent shift.  Then I guess the converse would be, what proportion is related to actual cost increases.  Are you able to answer that?

MR. INNIS:  Yes.  Just a moment, please.

We're just talking about the common corporate functions and services line item?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes that's right.

MR. INNIS:  I would be estimating, but approximately 3 percent shift in the costs, with a base that would be 48.5 million would be between one and 1.5 million.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So the bulk of it is for actual increased costs rather than the shift in the allocation?

MR. INNIS:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

If I could ask you to flip back to Board Staff 81, which is Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 81.

You provide an explanation in this IR regarding some cost increases under a number of headings, including common corporate functions and services.

You give an answer, we ask why are the costs going up.  You said increase costs related to Bill 198 and securities compliance programs, increased communications costs, regulatory compliance requirements, theft of power, human resources support for increased staffing and other new programs.



So you listed, I don't know five or six things here.  Is the increase spread more or less evenly across those?  Or are some of those big-ticket items whereas other ones are less significant?



MR. INNIS:  If I could refer you to table 3, please, and table 3 is on page 6 of this exhibit.

MR. MILLAR:  I have it.

MR. INNIS:  What this table does is it takes a look at the costs in total.  So if you look down the 2006 column, and the 2008 column, you can see in aggregate where the common corporate function services have changed.  And just to remind you, these are total common functions services.  It's not the specific DX allocation.  The DX allocation is the column on the right-hand side.

MR. MILLAR:  But just for 2008?

MR. INNIS:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  But looking at this chart, it is difficult to tell where the increases --

MR. INNIS:  I'm sorry.  The finance cost itself, within finance, there would be costs that would be associated with the security compliance programs, Bill 198, and those types of programs.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. INNIS:  Corporate security would have the theft of power program.  Human resources would be support for increased staffing and other HR programs.  And the communication costs, that has been a change as well but that is down and that would be in the corporate communications line item.  So there's a variety of different areas.

So it's -- essentially, it is across the Board but as you will note, the larger areas of the increase are within the finance function and regulatory affairs, as well.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you for that.

Forgive me if I am skipping around, I don't want to repeat questions of others.

If we look at the cost of sales line item, this is again on table 1, I see it shows up as 5.9 million.  I just want to make sure I understand how this works.

Can I assume that where you have a cost under cost of sales, that this is recouped -- there is a corresponding credit somewhere else in the application?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. INNIS:  That would show up under the external revenue --

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. INNIS:  -- exhibit.

MR. MILLAR:  Is cost of sales a zero sum game or do you actually turn a slight profit, if I can call it that, on cost of sales?


MR. INNIS:  We would turn a profit, if you call it that, on sales.  Our revenue is greater than our costs.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you for that.

Okay.  The largest single cost difference, if I can call it that, is under other shared services, is that right, that's because you have in 2006, there's a credit of 106.3 million, and then for 2008 you've got 78.3 million,  a difference of 28 million; is that right?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Although we're talking credits, of course here, the net effect is that your OM&A expenses increased by 28 million.  Am I reading that right?

MR. INNIS:  As a result of -- correct.  As a result of having a lower credit the OM&A would increase.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you for that.  I think you discuss the "other shared services" in more detail starting at page 81 of Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 6.  There is a table 29 there.

MR. INNIS:  Yes, I have that.

MR. MILLAR:  You have spoken of some these before.  There are a number of headings:  Corporate overhead, environmental provision, et cetera.

Can you help me out with something here.  Maybe you can confirm or clarify for me.  Are all of these services in fact shared services?  Are these all allocated between Hydro One distribution and somebody else?

MR. INNIS:  No, they're not.  These are attributable to distribution as opposed to being allocated.

MR. MILLAR:  So none of these are allocated?

MR. INNIS:  If I look at something like in the other category as I mentioned before, some of the payroll adjustments and things like that, they would be allocated.  But in terms of specifically associated with distribution, that would be corporate overhead, environmental provision, indirect depreciation.  And as I mentioned some of the other is allocated between transmission and distribution.

MR. MILLAR:  What about the deferred pension credit?

MR. INNIS:  That would have -- I was looking at the zero value in 2008.  But historically, that would have been allocated between transmission and distribution.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  This may sound like a silly question, but why are these costs under "other shared services" if they're not shared services?

MR. INNIS:  It's not a silly question.  We have these costs as part of our business, and when we put our evidence together, we have these costs and we say, Where do we best portray them?   We decided to portray them in this category.  


We could have set up something differently, but that this is kind of the catch-all category where we can explain things.  So we could perhaps have separated then them even further, but we would be getting down to a very fine level at that stage.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I just have a couple of questions about "other", which is under "other", so "other", I guess we're calling it.  These things -- at least some of these items under "other" are shared, if I heard you correctly?


MR. INNIS:  Just let me check that, please.  Such as, yes, payroll adjustment.  Yes, there are some that are shared and some that are direct.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  You discuss "other" in a bit more detail on page 84.  There's a short section.  In fact, there is a helpful table, table 34, which shows the numbers under this category for the last few years.


Perhaps more than any other category you have, this number really jumps all over the place, it seems to me.  It starts as a credit at 10.8 million, then it goes up to a debit, I guess, of 14.4, then back down to a $12.6 million credit.  It goes back and forth and all over the place.


In fact, between 2007 and 2008, the jump is something like $35 million.  I take it that since "other" is kind of a grab bag of things, that that may partially explain this, but could you just give me a high-level perspective on why this number is so inconsistent between the years?


MR. INNIS:  Hmm-hmm, yes, I can.  These costs represent material but unexpected or non-recurring type items.  So from one year to the next, they can swing, because they are not related to each other.


So any time that we have a one-off type transaction that doesn't relate to our core work programs, we track it here, and that can swing depending on what happens from one year to the next.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I guess this year, fortunately for ratepayers, anyways, it is in a credit position?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you, gentlemen.  Those are my questions.  I will hand it over to Ms. Cochrane.

Cross-examination by Ms. Cochrane:


MS. COCHRANE:  I am going to be dealing with issues 4.1, 4.6 and 4.7 just to give a road map.  My first question relating to the working capital, there are two inconsistent figures that are provided in the prefiled evidence, and if you would look -- take a look at Exhibit H1-9 and H1-11, and we see in the first one, schedule 9, the working capital amount of 297 million for the 2008 test year.


MR. INNIS:  Just a moment, please.


MS. COCHRANE:  Certainly.


MR. INNIS:  It's 297 for the test year.


MS. COCHRANE:  Right.  And schedule 11, the figure is 272.1 million.


MR. INNIS:  Just a moment, please.


MS. COCHRANE:  Page 2 of schedule 11.


MR. INNIS:  Yes, I have that.


MS. COCHRANE:  I just wonder if you can explain why these two figures are different.


MR. INNIS:  Yes, I can.


The response that we provided in H1-11, that was in response to the question that was asking us to calculate working capital based on a 5 percent GST number.  So that was a specific circumstance; whereas our base submission had the 6 percent working capital number in.


MS. COCHRANE:  Your application is based on a rate base that includes a 6 percent GST figure?  Am I understanding you correctly?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.  And the GST impacts slightly the working capital calculation.


MS. COCHRANE:  If we use the 5 percent figure, how does that affect the rate base?  Do you need to change the rate base in the application?


MR. INNIS:  That would impact the rate base marginally, and I think we have an undertaking that was going to calculate that specifically for you.  But as I mentioned this morning, we expect that to be very, very minimal.  Working capital is just a very small percentage of the total rate base calculation, but we will put that in the undertaking.


MS. COCHRANE:  Okay.  My next questions are with respect to the Cornerstone project, and this is issue 4.6 in the issues list.


The document reference is Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 5.  And you have indicated that the expenditure is 90.2 million for both transmission and distribution, and of that total, 43.3 is allocated to distribution.  


You have also indicated that there are four staged replacements of core applications which are to occur between 2008 and 2011.  You have indicated the capital expenditure of 63 million in 2008, of which you allocated 28 million to distribution.


You have also indicated that you anticipate savings of $200 million, and you have set this out at page 21 to 22 of D1-3-5.  I won't go through them all, but there's some 12 of them.  I just have a couple of questions about sort of some of the big ticket items.


One of those is titled "Optimized O&M and Capital Spending Through Enhanced Asset Analysis and Maintenance".  You have indicated there is an estimated benefit of 50.3 million.  Could you describe what this saving or benefit is and how you arrived at the figure?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I am actually going to ask you to ask that question of panel 3.  Mr. David Curtis can better describe what those numbers are and some of the thinking behind them.


MS. COCHRANE:  I also had a question about another one of the items in that list, so same response?  I should direct it to panel 3?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  Panel 3 should be able to answer your question.


MS. COCHRANE:  All right.  Does this apply to any questions I have about Cornerstone and the IT costs?


MR. STRUTHERS:  No, not necessarily.  If it's a general discussion around what Cornerstone is, I would be more than happy to entertain it.


MS. COCHRANE:  Okay.  So as I have indicated, from reading the material, there is a proposed capital expenditure of $63 million, of which $28 million is going to distribution.


You have indicated a planned in-service date of mid 2008.  Is that still on track?


MR. STRUTHERS:  The phase 1 of the project went live June 2nd, 2008, so it's on track and delivered.


MS. COCHRANE:  All right.  Now, you have indicated that the 2008 cost of this project is 50.3 million, and so that number, again, appears to be inconsistent with the 63 million that you have also indicated in your material.  I am looking at Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 37.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I can explain the difference between the $63 million and the $50.3 million.


The $50.3 million relates to phase 1.  There is an amount that has been identified for phase 2 of $9 million.  There is also an amount that has been identified for phase 3 of $3.7 million that will be incurred in 2008.


MS. COCHRANE:  Are phases 2 and 3 expected to be in service in 2008?


MR. STRUTHERS:  No.  The in-service dates for those are later years, so that we have 2008 and 2010.


MS. COCHRANE:  What's the reason for including them in 2008 costs?


MR. STRUTHERS:  The costs are incurred in 2008.  The project goes over a number of years.  A portion of those costs were incurred in this year.


MS. COCHRANE:  Well, why wouldn't you then incur those costs and construction work in progress and recover them at a later date, instead of including it in your 2008 revenue requirement?


MR. STRUTHERS:  It's just the way that we presented them.


MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me.  I am instructed that, in effect, that is how they are treated.  I think the regulatory impact is as if they were in construction work in process.  But perhaps I could take an undertaking just to explain what they are doing to satisfy you of that.


MS. COCHRANE:  All right.


MR. ROGERS:  I understand the question, and I think it's being done correctly from a regulatory point of view, Mr. Chairman, but I would like to be sure I get it right.  So...


MR. KAISER:  Can we have a number for that?


MS. COCHRANE:  That's undertaking J1.12.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.12:  TO EXPLAIN WHY PHASE 2 AND 3 CONSTRUCTION COSTS ARE INCLUDED IN 2008 COSTS

MR. VLAHOS:  Can I ask a general question, Mr. Rogers at this point.

MR. ROGERS:  Certainly.

MR. VLAHOS:  In terms of the capital projects that are undertaken by the utility, the practice is -- the practice is and I am needing confirmation of this, that they are energized or recognized in rate base upon the in-service date.  Is that correct, panel?  Is that correct is that that's the general policy of the company?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. VLAHOS:  I know we are going to get the response to the undertaking, but do you know what may be different in the Cornerstone project?

MR. INNIS:  I am not familiar with the Cornerstone --  I believe the Cornerstone would be treated the same as any other capital, if it's prior to in-service it is in construction in process.  It is not in rate base.

Once it is declared in-service it would be going into rate base.

MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  I will wait for the answer to that undertaking.  Thank you.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.

MS. COCHRANE:  You may or may not be able to answer this, but any of the savings that are claimed with respect to the Cornerstone project, are they with respect to like the -- are any of those in the 2008 revenue requirement?  Like, if you -- again, you have indicated this is something panel 3 should be asked.  And so I will put those questions to them.  But you know these tens of million dollars of dollars of savings, how is that reflected in, if it is reflected in the 2008 revenue requirement?

MR. ROGERS:  Can you answer that, Mr. Van Dusen?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I can.

There are virtually no savings attributable to 2008.  There may be small dollars in 2008, but they would be extremely small.  Mr. Curtis can talk about them in more detail.

MS. COCHRANE:  All right.  I am moving to issue -- it's also 4.6 but deals with your vehicle expenditures and the document that I reference is Exhibit D1-3-5, page 34.

You have indicated that the actual capital expenditures for new vehicles in 2005 was $40.5 million.  In 2006, it's $41.2; 2007, 41.1.  And then the -- but in 2008 budget amount is 51.6.

If we're doing our math -- I'm sure somebody other than me has done the math and done it correctly, we have an increase of 19.9 almost $20 million and almost 63 percent increase from your historical average.

So can you explain what this is related to and you know if I can suggest a couple of thoughts we had.  It’s not intended to be multiple choice exam but would you describe it as replacement of existing vehicles that are end of life?  Or are they special use?  Or are you just increasing your fleet, in terms of numbers of vehicles?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I can respond to your question.  All of the above are applicable.

However, if I can take you to page 35 of that same exhibit, so this is Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 5, page 35 the paragraph just before section 4.1 talks about the additional capital identified in 2008 is a direct reflection of the increase in the work programs and additional staffing identified by all lines of business.

So the, once again, the fleet can be looked upon as a shared service and the shared service cost in this case, the vehicles that support the work program are directly related to the increase in the costs of the work program.  To the extent there are more projects over a wider terrain, more vehicles are required to support the work activities.  That's the primary reason.

MS. COCHRANE:  As I say, one-time increase?  Or can we expect to see this in future years?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  The changes in the activities in the fleet area will be directly associated and directly parallel the changes in the work program costs.  So to the extent that the work program costs were to increase, one would expect that the fleet-related costs, generally speaking, would need to increase as well.

MS. COCHRANE:  So that it is an -- one time?  Or ongoing increase?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  In 2008, the $51.6 million is the expenditure required to support the work activities in 2008.

To the extent that we're forecasting increases in the overall level of the work program, one would expect the 51.6 to grow.

MS. COCHRANE:  Could you provide some general breakdown of that $20 million as it relates to the work programs and the additional staff?  Like, what are the programs and where are we seeing the additional staff?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I can.  If I could take you, in general, to Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 1, and in addition if I could take you to -- sorry.  I will be with you in a second.  I'm just getting the reference correct.

Also if I could take you to response to Board interrogatory H1-32.  So in my first reference on table 1, this outlines the OM&A expenditures, a summary of the OM&A expenditures showing the growth from 2004 of 346 million to the test year of $477.7 million.  That growth, as you can see, generally speaking, is across all of the lines of business, generally speaking, with the exception of customer care, which I don't suspect is a giant fleet user although Mr. Fukuzawa may want to correct me on that.

In addition, if one is to go to the summary of the capital expenditure information, one reference would be Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 1, this also shows the historical growth in the CAPEX for 2004 through 2008.  Once again, you can see that the growth in the CAPEX is across all of the work programs.

Generally speaking, the fleet equipment is used across the lines of businesses and across all of the work programs.  There are a few exceptions, obviously.  There is some shared services capital that doesn't have a high fleet use.  Some of the customer care costs don't have a high fleet use.  But in general, it crosses the work program.

In addition, the interrogatory response H, tab 1, schedule 32, in part B, outlined the increase, a bit of what is the increase attributable to, it talks about end of life replacement, so there was a large end of life replacement program in 2008 which accounted for a bit of the bump up between 2007 and 2008.  And also talks about normal replacements.  Then it talks about the amount which is attributable to the larger work program.

MS. COCHRANE:  Thank you for that.  Are we also looking at additional staffing levels that are necessitating the increased fleet capacity and costs?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Hydro One Networks plans its work on a work basis.  We take a look at the activities that need to be undertaken across the realm of all capital and OM&A programs, across all of the sustaining development operations customer care shared services activities.

Once we have planned those activities, we then line up resourcing associated with those activities.  So to the extent that the work program is growing and the activities are larger in scope, there will be increases in staff.  But we start with the work program and what work we need to do.

MS. COCHRANE:  What kinds of vehicles are contemplated under the additional purchases?  Are we talking bucket trucks or executive vehicles?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Just one second and I will find an appropriate reference for you.


Under the main transport and work equipment, we are talking about the type of vehicles that are used in the field for brush cutting, vegetation management, for pole top transformer replacements.  It is a wide range of vehicle all the way from utility trucks up to large vehicles.  Some of these large vehicles are used in terms of the PCB removal programs that we have.


It's a very large range of vehicles.


MS. COCHRANE:  You're referring to a document.  Is this in your prefiled evidence or interrogatory responses?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, ma'am.  It's in my briefing material.  However, I think if I -- I'm trying to see if we have an interrogatory that we filed that I might be able to reference that might be helpful.


MS. COCHRANE:  I don't want to hold you up.  You could give us an undertaking that referred to -- if it is in the IRs, and if it's not, if you can provide us a document from whatever your briefing note is derived.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.


I can give you the reference and I think this reference would be helpful to you.


What I am referring to you is actually interrogatory response H, tab 13, schedule 26.  What this response does is it lays out all the various fleet rates.  Once again, its fleet rates are charged on a standard costing approach, and although this gives you fleet rate information, it goes through all of the various types of fleet vehicles that Hydro One utilizes.  


So I think if you took a look at this response, it would give you a good example of the wide variety of types of vehicles that are required to support our work program.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Van Dusen, some of those new vehicles are to replace existing ones or older ones?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir, that's correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  Do we have a breakdown of this?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Mr. Vlahos, I think if I refer you back to H1-32, we give a breakout of that in terms of dollars, not in terms of actual vehicles.  But in response to H1-32, part B does give you a breakdown of the increase in dollars and what it has been spent for in the various categories.


MR. VLAHOS:  I don't have the exhibit in front of me right now, but what is the proportion, the dollar proportion, of replacements versus new additions?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  In 2008, there is -- the approximate percentage is 75 percent is due to end of life replacement.


MR. VLAHOS:  So 75 percent?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  My question is:  Is there a flexibility or discretion in terms of replacing a certain vehicle at a given point in time?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sir, to some extent, there is some flexibility, but, generally speaking, if you have work crews at a site or need to get to a site, a vehicle becomes an integral part of the work that they're going to undertake at that location.  Whether it be transporting the crews to the site, transporting their equipment to the site, the vehicle becomes an intimate part of the overall ability to perform the work.


MR. VLAHOS:  Well, sir, let me articulate my question a little better, perhaps.  Seventy-five percent of the expenditures are for vehicles which are going to replace older vehicles.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  So my question I guess is:  How much flexibility is there that you not replace the older vehicle this year?  How much flexibility discretion is there; do you know?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sir, if I could refer you to Exhibit C1, tab 4, schedule 1, attachment A, it talks about the fleet program, including repair and fuelling costs, and it talks about the very detailed process that Hydro One goes through in terms of determining when the fleet needs to be considered for replacement.  


And, actually, in response to Board Staff's question, I notice in here there's a bit of an explanation of the types of trucks that are used, as well, that I should have referred them to.


So the process we go through is outlined here.  It takes a look at usage of material.  It dictates -- it outlines here the type of process we go through.  So at a highest level, sir, that is the process we go through.  


Is there some discretion in keeping vehicles working longer?  I suspect there always is some of that discretion, but it is not in accordance with our standard approach and standard procedures with respect to replacement of vehicles.


MR. VLAHOS:  Sir, you referred me to C1, tab 4, schedule 1?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, attachment A of that.  It's called "Fleet", and then in brackets, "including repair and fuelling".


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Is this the page -- there are nine pages to the text actual evidence, or am I in the wrong one?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I have page 1 of 10.  I don't know whether maybe Board Staff could provide the exhibit to you.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  C1 --


MR. VAN DUSEN:  C1, tab 4, schedule 1.


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  Mine are white pages.  It starts with white pages.  I just don't seem to have an appendix -- I see.  Okay.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  It's the appendix to that exhibit, sir.  My apologies.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay, that's fine.  Okay, I have your answer on that one.  Thank you very much.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Thank you.


MS. COCHRANE:  Some of the questions we have for tomorrow's panel is going to be about the new and improved vegetation management program, and, if I understand your prefiled evidence correctly, there's going to be some $60 million increase over the next five years and going to a more frequent cycle.


What portion of the vehicle costs are related to the new -- tree-trimming program, if any?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, there are costs attributable to the tree-trimming program.  There are vehicles used in that activity.  I am afraid I don't have that detail with me.


MS. COCHRANE:  Could we get an undertaking for you to provide that information?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, we will do our best.  I understand the drift of your question.  I will see what is available to answer it.


MS. COCHRANE:  It will be undertaking J1.13.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.13:  PROVIDE IMPACT OF THE INCREASED ACTIVITY IN TREE CLEARING ON THE VEHICLE ACQUISITION COSTS, IF AVAILABLE.


MS. COCHRANE:  If you could repeat the question, Mr. Rogers?


MR. ROGERS:  Repeat the question?


MS. COCHRANE:  Sorry, the undertaking.


MR. ROGERS:  As I understand it, it was to provide, if I can, information -- the impact of the increased activity in tree clearing on the vehicle acquisition costs.


MS. COCHRANE:  Right.  If you could provide that in dollar amounts?


MR. ROGERS:  I will certainly try.


MS. COCHRANE:  If that is available.  Thanks.


Did Hydro One do any cost and benefit study to justify the increased fleet expenditure?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  For any capital expenditure that Hydro One undertakes, they have to prepare what's called a business case.  The business case outlines the reasons for the expenditure, why the expenditure needs to be the amount it needs to be, and a normal part of a business case is a net present value analysis, or, in the case where it's a necessary expenditure for something like health and safety, the reasons why one would undertake this to mitigate a risk that Hydro One was facing.


MS. COCHRANE:  Has that case study been filed in your evidence, and, if not, would you undertake to provide it?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Did we file...


There might have been something filed in the exhibits which have the investment justification documents.  So I could check.


If you take a look at Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 2, it says "List of capital expenditure projects".  I think it might be there.  If you could just give me a minute to check, I will see whether that document is there.


MS. COCHRANE:  Thank you.  Did Hydro One look at 

any --


MR. ROGERS:  Just a second.  


MS. COCHRANE:  I'm sorry.


MR. INNIS:  We've almost got it.


MS. COCHRANE:  Okay.  I thought we had it.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  There was something filed on this.  It is part of the investment justification documentation.  If I can take you to -- it's filed in Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 2, and under 4.2, shared services and other, there is a C1, fleet services, which will talk about the expenditure.

MR. ROGERS:  So may I suggest that, once you have a look at that, if that's not satisfactory and you want more, let me know and we will try to provide more information.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MS. COCHRANE:  Did Hydro One look at the alternatives to purchasing the vehicles, such as leasing or contracting out some of the work that necessitates the vehicles?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  Hydro One has considered leasing options and Hydro One does undertake a fair bit of contracting out in the fleet services area, as well.

Approximately between 30 and 40 percent of the fleet management activities are actually outsourced.  In terms of leasing, if I could take you to Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 5, there's a short discussion here in capital versus operating leases.  

Our assessment at this point in time is that, leasing was not overly cost-effective for Hydro One.  So there is not an awful lot of leasing that actually, that goes with our fleet program at this point in time.

MS. COCHRANE:  Thank you.  Just moving on to my last issue today.  It is 4.7 on the Issues List and I would like to discuss the allocation methodology of your shared services and other capital expenditures.

The document you should probably have a look at is Exhibit C1, tab 5, schedule 3.  I am just quoting from page 2, line 13:

"In addition, from year to year, the use of these shared assets changes based upon changes in the underlying transmission and distribution work programs.  Consequently, the methodology by which shared assets are allocated is subject to periodic review."

What do you mean by periodic review?  Like, annually?  Or since your last application, for example.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Generally, we take a look at that shift in assets and the impact on the percentage when we come up to a major rate case.  So we generally review, as that's turned out, almost on an annual basis since we had the methodology approved in 2006.

MS. COCHRANE:  Do you just do that as a standard process or is there a particular reason that you feel you need to review your methodology?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I think consistent with the approval of the Rudden methodology, part of the methodology indicated that on a periodic basis the allocation should be reviewed and potentially updated to the extent that there had been a major shift.

So it's consistent with the methodology that and the approval of this Board that we do that.

MS. COCHRANE:  Would your last review have been before your 2006 distribution rate application?  Or has there been one since then?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No.  We actually reviewed it before our transmission application on 2007 and 2008 rates.

MS. COCHRANE:  Now, I don't have that in front of me, but presumably there would have been some discussion of a use and costs as they're apportioned between the business units.  


Has that changed since your -- since the transmission application?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Actually, the percentage hasn't changed since the distribution application.

In the review for the 2007 and 2008 transmission rate filing, there was a, what I will refer to as a very, very minor shift in the percentages.  It was our judgment that that shift was not worthwhile changing in allocation of a large rate base on.  That we would wait for further studies to support other applications to see whether the shift was indicative of a major change at all.

MS. COCHRANE:  Those are all of my questions, panel.  Thank you very much.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.
Questions from the Board:

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Van Dusen, when you were answering questions from Ms. Cochrane with respect to the fleet, I got the impression that what you were saying basically is that the fleet expenditure and the growth in the fleet expenditure was consequential to the overall work program.  And that those costs basically followed the increases in the work program.  Did I get that right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Generally speaking, that's correct.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  When I looked at the sustaining OM&A material, and I am looking at C1, tab 2, schedule 2, page 3 of 37, I see that for stations, lines, those two categories, there are in fact decreases from 2006 to 2008.

We see a modest increase in the meters component and a significant increase in the vegetation management.

So from that, do we conclude that it is vegetation management that you're talking about when you're talking about the work program and the consequential increase in transportation equipment cost?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir, that is one of the main driving factors of the fleet.

May I also take you, though, to the overall summary of the capital expenditures from 2006 to 2008.  One of the references would be D1, tab 3, schedule 1.

The fleet supports both the OM&A and the capital work program.  And you will see that there has been an extensive increase in the capital work program over that period of time, as well.

So it is not just the OM&A expenditures which drive the fleet uses.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Now, that capital expenditure work, how much of that would actually be contracted out?  Are those internal costs?  Or are those costs that are contracted out to others?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I believe panel 2 will give you, can give you a much better idea of the amount of work that is contracted out within OM&A and capital.  But as I said earlier in cross-examination from Board Staff, there are -- there is a certain amount of the fleet expenditures that is contracted out already.  Between 30 and 40 percent of the fleet activities are already contracted out.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. VLAHOS:  Panel, just one question and I can't find the reference right now, but there was some discussion and I can't remember who was the examiner but it had to do with smart meters and the kinds of employees, people that are employed are used for smart metering installation.  The note that I have here is that there is more expensive -- more expensive employees were doing smart metering installations.  Did I hear that correct?

MR. FUKUZAWA:  Yes.  I guess to clarify.  You did hear that correct.  But to clarify, it was that the manual meter readers that would typically do the manual meter reading were moved off to do the meter installations for the smart metering project and the labour rate for the meter readers is higher than the hiring hall labour rate for the replacement staff that came in to do the manual meter reading.

MR. VLAHOS:  My question is more my edification, that do you have to be licensed?  Do you have to be and electrician or otherwise licensed to install a smart meter?

MR. FUKUZAWA:  Well, I'm not sure if there is a certification process, but I know that there would be a training program and the meter reading staff that were doing the manual meter readers would have more experience in dealing with the meters.  So they would be in a better position to do the installations for the new smart meters.  We do have my colleague, Mr. Rick Stevens, who is the project director for smart meters that will be testifying on panel 2, and he would know more the details around the implementation of the smart meters.

MR. VLAHOS:  I just wondered whether I could hire a student to do it, a summer student.

MR. FUKUZAWA:  To do --

MR. VLAHOS:  Can summer students do that, university students?

MR. FUKUZAWA:  I think that would be a better question to beginning give to Mr. Rick Stevens.

MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Thank you, thank you, Mr. Chair.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Rogers any re-examination.

MR. ROGERS:  No.  Thank you.  I will deal -- the undertakings that will be given will answer any confusion that is on the record, I think.

Thank you very much.

MR. KAISER:  What's the plan for tomorrow?  We will have this panel back to answer any questions on the undertakings?  Or ...

MR. ROGERS:  I hadn't planned on that.  I'm not sure I will have them all answered by tomorrow morning, sir.  What I propose to do is begin with panel 2.  I will file the undertakings as quickly as I can and certainly these witnesses will be available to answer any appropriate questions on those undertakings at some point at your convenience.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  9:30 tomorrow.

 --- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:15 p.m.


















PAGE  

